# **Belmont University**

# **Belmont Digital Repository**

**Honors Theses** 

**Belmont Honors Program** 

4-27-2020

# Shifts in Federal Educational Policies and The Effect on Middle Tennessee Band Programs

Vivienne Emde Belmont University, vivienne.emde@pop.belmont.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.belmont.edu/honors\_theses

Part of the Art Education Commons, Business Commons, Elementary Education Commons, Music Commons, and the Secondary Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Emde, Vivienne, "Shifts in Federal Educational Policies and The Effect on Middle Tennessee Band Programs" (2020). *Honors Theses*. 31.

https://repository.belmont.edu/honors\_theses/31

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Belmont Honors Program at Belmont Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of Belmont Digital Repository. For more information, please contact repository@belmont.edu.



A Senior Honors Thesis project submitted to the Honors Program in partial fulfillment of the requirements for ungraduated graduation.

Bachelor of Business Administration and Bachelor of Arts in German
Belmont University Honors Program
April 27, 2020

Nashville, Tennessee Spring 2020

# Dr. Barry Kraus

Thesis Director	Date	4/ 25 / 2020
Dr. Jesse Register  Thesis Committee	Date	4/ 27 / 2020
Mr. Harvey Sperling  Adamy of the Line  Thesis Committee Member	Date	4/ 26 / 2020
Accepted for the Honors Council and Honor	ors Program:  Date	

Dr. Bonnie Smith Whitehouse, Director
The Honors Program

# **Contents**

Preface	1
Introduction	3
Research Methods	5
Federal Educational Policy and Music Education	7
The Establishment of Music Education in the School Curriculum	7
The Elementary and Secondary Education Act	8
The Development of National Advocacy for Music Education	10
The National Standards for Music Education 1997	14
The Core Music Standards 2014c	17
Evolutions in Federal Educational Policy	20
Space Race and Effects on Music Education	20
No Child Left Behind Act	26
Race to the Top	27
Every Student Succeeds Act	30
NEA and Proposed Dismantlement	35
TMEA and Advocacy in Tennessee	42
Challenges for Band Directions in Tennessee	49
Conclusions and Recommendations	54
Trends on the National Scale	54
The Impact of Advocacy Organizations	58
Evaluation Systems	59
Trends Evident in Middle Tennessee	62
Recommendations	66
Appendix 1: The Child's Bill of Rights in Music 1950	72
Appendix 2: The Child's Bill of Rights in Music 1991	74
Appendix 3: NAES Music Assessment Framework 1997	75
Appendix 4: Core Music Standards for Ensembles 2014	76
Appendix 5: 1970 Go Project Goals and Objectives	80
Appendix 6: Goals for the Future of MENC 1970	83
Appendix 7: RTTT State Evaluation Categories	84
Appendix 8: Tennessee Music Programs That Received	
NEA Funding 2010- Present	85
References	86

#### **Preface**

Music education and its impact on students is a passion of mine sparked by intense involvement in band programs which began in elementary school and continued throughout my collegiate experience. I have been heavily influenced by these programs and am thrilled to be writing about the current music education and advocacy scene. I owe my early involvement in music to my parents who believed that learning an instrument would be beneficial to my education, and according to a 2003 survey by the Gallup Organization, "Ninety-five percent of Americans ... believe that music is a key component in a child's well-rounded education; three quarters of those surveyed feel that schools should mandate music education" (Gallup Organization and NAMM 2003).

I have personally benefited greatly from engagement with music education. Being in band programs specifically has taught me how to listen to others, lead by example, work towards a goal, support those around me, humble myself, and love through service. I have spent the last twelve years in band rooms, and the impact I have seen music have in my life and in the lives of others has left me in awe. I will leave Belmont to pursue a career in arts administration and arts advocacy because I know that access to music and music education can be transformational in anyone's life.

I want to thank my sorority Tau Beta Sigma, which has taken my love of bands and band people and channeled it towards service. It is because of my chapter, Eta Phi, that I have become the woman I am today, and it is because of Eta Phi that I am able to write this thesis. They inspire and support me every day. I write this thesis in pursuit of the mission of my sorority, the mission I want to spend my life: working "for greater bands" (Mission 2020).

"As I've said many times before, arts education is not a luxury, it's a necessity. It's really the air many of these kids breathe"

— Michelle Obama

2015 National Arts and Humanities Youth Program Awards ceremony

#### Introduction

"Some people think music education is a privilege, but I think it's essential to being human."

- Jewel

Music is an integral part of the human experience—a beloved art form, a means of expression, and for so many a lifelong passion. Music education has been a part of public-school education in the United States since the 1830s and it continues to be a subject that elicits improved social skills, high performances on tests in other subjects, improved time management, and provides other benefits to cooperative learning from students nationwide (Hinton 1998). While music education has been a curricular offering in public schools across America for centuries, the support of these programs has varied greatly on a national scale. The value of music education has often been misunderstood or overlooked by government policy on the state and federal level. In the last sixty years federal policy has greatly affected music's place in education.

In 1962, the federal government, recognizing that in some areas the income generated by property-tax is too low to adequately support basic public-school functions, passed the Elementary and Secondary Education Act. This legislation, allowing the federal government to provide states with additional funding to financially support these schools, has been reauthorized eight times to present including as the No Child Left Behind Act (2002) and the Every Student Succeeds Act (2018). The intervention of the federal government in public schools promised increased funding and legal protection for music education but introduced new challenges to music advocacy such as standardized testing and justification of music though usefulness in enhancing other academic subjects.

This thesis includes literary overviews of the legislation that allowed the federal government to influence music education and its history in the last sixty years with

specific focus on the effects of the No Child Left Behind Act (2002) and the Every Student Succeeds Act (2018), as well as two federal grant programs-- the Race to the Top Initiative and the National Endowment for the Arts—to provide readers with an understanding of the systems at work and the effects on band programs in Middle Tennessee. An explanation of the policy and its history, personal testimonies, interviews, and case studies in Middle Tennessee, as well as my personal recommendations will be included in my analysis of legislation.

I added a personal dimension and first-hand knowledge to the evaluation and discussion of these federal policies to provide a narrative approach and encapsulate the voices directly affected among the band community of Middle Tennessee.

Those who believe in the benefits of music education know that change is desperately needed in the attitudes surrounding legislation for music education as well as in implementation. This cannot happen without lawmakers' understanding of the value of music education through arts advocacy groups. I provide an overview of the development of federal and state-wide arts advocacy associations to document the influence they have had on shaping federal policies affecting music education. The objectives of this thesis are to examine how federal legislation for education has impacted music education and identify trends that may shape the future funding and operation of band programs in Middle Tennessee.

The objectives of this thesis are to examine how federal legislation for education has impacted music education and to identify trends that may shape the future funding and operation of band programs in Middle Tennessee.

#### **Research Methods**

The purpose of this thesis is to analyze how federal legislation has impacted music education, specifically high school bands in Middle Tennessee, to find trends and to make recommendations based on my findings. The majority of this thesis is a historical review of federal legislation. As such, many of the primary sources in this work are the laws themselves: The Elementary and Secondary Education Act, the No Child Left Behind Act, the Every Student Succeeds Act, and the Race to the Top Initiative. Other documents include statements from federal and state departments of education, executive summaries of the laws proposed, federal and state-proposed budgets, federal and state-actualized education budgets, congressional minutes, department of education bulletins on the federal and state level, state educational curriculum implementation plans, and press releases from various federal and state agencies, advocacy groups, and news stations across Tennessee.

I felt it pertinent to begin my research directly from government sources and the exact words of the law before I began to research how the policies were being implemented. It allowed me to understand the process of how federal and state funds are allocated to different schools and for what intended purposes before I started to ask how this process was being executed. I accessed academic journals, articles in magazines and newspapers, blog posts, research studies, teacher toolkits, grant proposals, press releases from various agencies, news articles, books, advocacy websites, advocacy group minutes, webinars, and convention minutes to give me different perspectives from which to observe the impact of federal legislation. I evaluated all sources based on the author's credentials, who commissioned the research, peer reviews, and content. Once satisfied

that my sources were trustworthy and contained relevant information, I used the literature to build a timeline which follows the evolution in federal legislation over the past sixty years and the way these trends have impacted the band classroom today.

To accurately capture the present situation in music education and draw on primary sources, I conducted Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved interviews with music educators and advocates about their experiences with and their views on federal policies to be discussed in this work. I believe that incorporating personal testimonies into a narrative examination of music education—how it is valued, funded, evaluated, and preserved— allows the reader to grasp the vast complexity of the issue. Each of these interviews was conducted with the greatest attention to leaving the questions, tone, and manner of the interview as unbiased as possible to ensure fully organic replies.

## **Federal Educational Policy and Music Education**

The Establishment of Music Education in the School Curriculum

Prior to the late nineteenth century, formal music instruction existed primarily as a private subject and often only accessible to the affluent (Ellis 1995). One of the most widely accepted origin stories in the United States is the 1832 founding of the Boston Academy of Music by Lowell Mason. Inspired by his personal mission to teach children to sing, Mason began teaching singing lessons twice a week at the Bowdoin Street Church. After meeting William Woodbridge, who encouraged Mason to incorporate the Swiss Pestalozzian System of Education he had learned while abroad in Europe, Mason's choir grew to over one hundred students and was praised all over Boston. The school differed from its predecessors because it taught not only singing techniques, but the musical theory behind it. People had regarded instruments and music as a fine art form, something inaccessible to the common people. Mason showed that not only could the general population learn and excel at music, but that even children could find joy and success in music. Mason accepted a trial position at the Hawes School without pay for nine months "to demonstrate the importance of music in the school curriculum" (Ellis 1995). By the year's end, Mason had convinced the school committee to accept music as part of the basic curriculum.

His start at the Hawes School is widely regarded as the start of music education in American public schools because his curriculum and text, *Manual of the Boston Academy of Music, for Instruction in the Elements of Vocal Music on the System of Pestalozzi,* were so successful that local committees pushed to have music education incorporated into their syllabi. On August 28, 1838 in what has been called the Magna Carta of music

education, the Boston School Committee approved hiring music teachers for elementary schools across Boston and provided public funds for "the establishment of music teaching in the schools. Public-school music education was born in America" (Ellis 1995).

### The Elementary and Secondary Education Act

Music continued to develop as a curriculum offering, governed and affected by state legislation throughout the later 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> century. The number of public schools with music education in their curriculums, funding for these programs, and the level of instruction varied throughout the country (Hinton 1998).

States exercise individual powers, which is why education has historically been a state rather than a federal conversation. The law that currently authorizes the federal government to engage in education nationwide is the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), originally passed by Lyndon B. Johnson as part of his War on Poverty campaign. The law's original and primary purpose was to improve educational equity for vulnerable students by providing additional federal funds to school districts where inequality was present. These districts typically received less state and local funding due to lower local property values and taxes, the primary funding source for schools. The law sought to increase student access to and improve student engagement and achievement in, amongst other things, activities and programs in music and the arts.

The ESEA is the single largest source of federal spending on education and has been reauthorized eight times since 1965. It consists of an appropriations bill, a list of the federal government's actions, the actual expenditures associated therewith, and a strategic plan—an implementation blueprint—for the law and each of its reauthorizations. Each

state must present a plan for expenditures to the United States Secretary of Education, and, once approved, the bulk of the money is given to the state directly in broad categories such as teacher preparation and retention or resources for disadvantaged children. The money is then turned over to local education agencies (LEAs) who spend the money according to the approved appropriations plan.

ESEA specified that funds could be used by LEAs for any "programs and activities that use music and the arts as tools to support student success through the promotion of constructive student engagement, problem solving, and conflict resolution" (Elementary and Secondary Education Act 1965). Grant funds were only to be allocated to activities that were "directly related to improving student academic achievement based on the challenging state academic standards" or were directly related to improving reading skills, knowledge of mathematics, the sciences, history, geography, English, foreign languages, art, or music, or to improving career, technical, and professional skills (Elementary and Secondary Education Act 1965).

Although likely unintentional, the wording of ESEA placed a tremendous burden on music educators. Many music educators during this time felt that in order to justify their field's inclusion in school curriculum they needed to convince LEAs that music was a means of teaching or reinforcing skills and content from other subject areas. This combined with the inherent difficulties of evaluating both students and instructors of music by state academic standards, left music educators more frustrated than pleased, as evidenced by the number of conventions called by arts advocates to discuss the impacts of ESEA on music education.

### The Development of National Advocacy for Music Education

The beginning of the 20th century saw a rise in the national interest in music education. Its inclusion in school curriculums nationwide, and ultimately in federal law, showed how far the field had come since Lowell Mason convinced the Boston Public School System to add music education to its offerings. With the popularity of curricular music instruction continuing to rise, music advocacy also began to develop on a national scale.

The first national association of music educators was the Music Supervisors

National Conference (MSNC) founded in 1907 as an inadvertent consequence of the San

Francisco earthquake and fires on April 18, 1906. After fires devastated the city, the

National Education Association (NEA) canceled their convention originally scheduled to
be held in San Francisco (Fehr 2015).

The NEA's Department of Music Education, dating back to 1894 and composed of primarily music supervisors at the time, elected to hold its own gathering rather than waiting for the rescheduled NEA conference in late 1907. Music educator, researcher, and advocate Phillip C. Hayden drew in over 104 music supervisors from the NEA's Department of Music Education to Keokuk, Iowa for two days beginning on April 10, 1907 (Fehr 2015).

Although never named as president of what would eventually become MENC, Frances E. Clark, then vice-president of the NEA's Department of Music Education, presided over the first meeting as the organization's first chairwoman. This earned her the nickname Mother of the Conference and set a precedent for women to be a part of shaping the evolution of music education. The association continued to grow in size and

by 1917 drew 786 attendees (Fehr 2015). The popularity of high school bands and orchestras continued to increase throughout the 1920s, and in 1922 the Richmond Indiana school district became the first to send a student band to play at the MSNC meeting in Nashville, TN.

The inaugural MSNC meeting was held in Nashville, with sessions of the convention held at Peabody College, Ward-Belmont College, and Fisk University, as well as at the Ryman Auditorium, the Hermitage Hotel, and Hume-Fogg High School in 1922. The first Nashville Symphony also performed at the conference. Originally, MSNC was composed of music supervisors, not teachers in the field, and this led to dissonance about the association's primary purpose. This convention is often viewed as the first sign that music educators in Tennessee were interested in organizing themselves and was called in part to address the fact that MSNC was being led by music supervisors. In 1922, the Southern Division of the Association was the first district established by MSNC with the North Central Division following in 1927, the Northwest Division in 1928, and the California/Western Division in 1931.

Despite the stock-market crash that brought on the Great Depression in 1930, over 7,500 music teachers attended the second biennial conference of MSNC in Chicago (Fehr 2015). In the midst of the Great Depression, MSNC established its first office in Chicago in 1930 and hired its first director, Clifford V. Buttleman. The first state to establish its own music education association (MEA) was Maine in 1916, while Ohio became the first state to formally affiliate its statewide MEA with MSNC in 1933.

The Music Supervisors' National Conference changed its name to the Music Educators National Conference (MENC) in 1934 and was known under that name until

1998 when this was amended to MENC: The National Association for Music Education. During World War II, MENC worked with the War Department on patriotic efforts such as *The Code for the National Anthem of the United States of America*, still in use today, and inspiring many retired music educators to return to the classroom throughout the United States as music educators were drafted into military service (Fehr 2015).

After WWII ended, the focus of music educators shifted towards "music education for the good of society" (Fehr 2015). *A Child's Bill of Rights in Music*, written and published in 1950 by members of MENC, quotes the United Nations' *Declaration of Human Rights* Article XXVII to say that "everyone has the right freely to participate in the cultural life of the community, to enjoy the arts, and to share in scientific advancement and its benefits" (MENC 1950). The purpose of this resolution was to apply and amplify aspects of the Bill of Rights in regard to the field of music education (Appendix 1). The exact wording touches on a child's right to the opportunity to play music with others, to impact and enrich society, to better themselves, and to be given instruction "equal to that given in any other subject" (MENC 1950).

In 1956, NEA built new headquarters in Washington, D.C.., and MENC was invited to share the space. MENC celebrated its 50th anniversary and the addition of 33,000 members by joining with NEA to commission *Song of Democracy* by Howard Hanson, which was premiered by The National Symphony Orchestra and the Howard University Chorus at DAR Constitution Hall (Fehr 2015).

As advocacy for music instruction gained momentum, the Cold War brought about a shift in educational policy early in the decade, prompting thoughtful discussion as to why music education was an important part of the school curriculum. Discussions,

such as the Woods Hole Conference, Yale Seminar, Seminar on Comprehensive Musicianship, Airlie House Symposium, and Tanglewood Symposium were facilitated by MENC throughout the 1960s. In an attempt to "increase the emphasis on the creative aspect of music in public schools," and to "discover creative talent among students," MENC was awarded the \$1.3 million Ford Foundation Grant for The Contemporary Music Project for Creativity in Music Education Project in 1962 (Fehr 2015). This was one of the last major projects MENC took on for the next two decades.

MENC's second *Child's Bill of Rights in Music*, written in 1992 in coincidental celebration of the bicentennial of Lowell Mason's life, described how music educators "must fight hard for music and the other arts as a basic right in every child's education" and to prevent "school budgets being trimmed because of the economic recession and other priorities in the U.S. economy" (Glenn 1992). It demonstrated that the educational trends of the 1960s continued to place emphasis on science, technology, engineering, and mathematics classes—what we know today as STEM—at the expense of the fine arts.

In 1994, MENC assisted in the development of the *Goals 2000* document, which defined voluntary goals for arts education at each grade level. This was the first time "a consensus was reached regarding what students should know and be able to do in the arts as a result of PreK-12 instruction in dance, music, theatre, and the visual arts" (MENC 1994).

### The National Standards for Music Education (1997)

Three years later, under a grant from the U.S. Department of Education, the National Endowment for the Humanities, and the National Endowment for the Arts, MENC developed *The National Standards for Music Education* and aided in the administration of the development of *The National Standards for Arts Education* (Fehr 2015). The development of arts education standards created an invaluable resource to teachers and administrators consisting of "guidelines for what students should know and be able to do in the arts as a result of instruction in grades K-12" in a variety of fine art forms including music, theatre, and the visual arts (Barkley 2006).

The national standards in music include: (1) singing, alone and with others, a varied repertoire of music; (2) performing on instruments, alone and with others, a varied repertoire of music; (3) improvising melodies, variations, and accompaniments; (4) composing and arranging music within specified guidelines; (5) reading and notating music; (6) listening to, analyzing, and describing music; (7) evaluating music and music performances; (8) understanding relationships between music, the other arts, and disciplines outside the arts; and (9) understanding music in relation to history and culture (MENC 1994). They are widely regarded as MENC's primary contribution to music education.

Barkley (2006) states that the need to establish common assessments rose as "the standards also clarified what should be assessed in the music classroom." The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) is the "primary federal entity for collecting and analyzing data related to education" in the United States and abroad (National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.). It is also known as The Nation's Report Card and fulfills a

congressional mandate to "collect, collate, analyze, and report complete statistics on the condition of American education; conduct and publish reports; and review and report on education activities internationally" (National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.).

NCES operates within the U.S. Department of Education and the Institute of Education Sciences. The National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) is part of the National Assessment branch of the NCES and "is the only assessment that measures what U.S. students know and can do in various subjects across the nation, states, and in some urban districts" (About NAEP 2018). In 1997, NAEP used the MENC *National Standards for Music Education* to create their first nationwide assessment of musical competence in students across America as well as similar assessments in other areas of the arts. In addition to including a broader range of art forms than ever before, the standards of assessment "used a richer mix of art works for students to respond to, and more diverse tasks, which required students to create and perform, as well as respond" (Barkley 2006).

The NAEP's 1997 Arts Assessment in Music was field tested using a nationally representative sample of students, regardless of their background in music or the visual arts, on the fourth, eighth, and twelfth grade levels to create a statistically sound comparison. The actual assessment, however, "covered eighth-grade students only, regardless of whether they had received instruction in music" (White 2001). The assessment framework for music (Appendix 3) consisted of a written and a performance component.

In order to gather the statistical comparison, and later the results of the 1998 National Report Card for Music, training materials and procedures were devised to ensure a standardized evaluation. Scripts and stimuli for the performance tasks provided alternative repertoire to accommodate the wide variety of student instrumentation and voices. Test developers and field test administrators also had to work to encourage less-experienced students to engage in, or at least attempt, the full range of musical activities that were being assessed. The types of student responses to creating/performing assessments were also widely diverse and required innovative scoring methods to evaluate the full range of a student's artistic achievement objectively and reliably. According to NAEP, "creating and administering a national assessment was very challenging," partially because many believed that to test musical understanding or performance in a standardized way would be a disservice to the subject itself (About NAEP 2018). This is one of the reasons the adoption of the *National Standards for Music Education*, NAEP assessment tasks, and later the *Core Music Standards* and Model Cornerstone Assessments were always voluntary.

Since moral, aesthetic, and material interests co-exist in life and are not mutually exclusive, those who would promote the arts, including music, should become acquainted with and should advocate a philosophy which affirms that moral and aesthetic elements are equally with physical elements part of the whole reality (MENC 1950).

Additional challenges included creating assessment tasks that were suitable for the diversity of educational backgrounds, making distinctions among levels of student proficiency, observing the range of resources available to music educators, and evaluating student participation versus achievement. Student effort is not the same as student achievement, but many people believe that voluntary participation in the arts should result in good grades for the student based on effort instead of ability. This led to a wide-spread debate about the inclusion of effort into the assessment.

Both MENC's *National Standards for Music Education* and the assessments created by NAEP in 1977 were voluntary benchmarks for the field of music education. They functioned as valuable tools to educators nationwide but were ultimately voluntary and were not officially adopted by every state or the nation as a whole.

MENC's other most notable project in recent history is the revival of the National Anthem Project which began as a public awareness campaign launched in 2005 seeking "to encourage more singing of the national anthem, and to bring more public attention to the role of music in American schools" (Fehr 2015).

On September 1, 2011, the organization changed its acronym from MENC to NAfME which stands for the National Association for Music Education. Through projects such as the 2011 formation of the Give a Note Foundation, NAfME reached millions of parents and students and provided more than one million dollars in direct grants to schools as well as participating in the coalition between national arts, education, and media arts organizations to reform the *National Standards for Arts Education* into the *Core Music Standards* (NAfME 2007, Fehr 2015. With increasing outreach, NAfME has been able to support programs across the nation).

## The Core Music Standards (2014)

The *Core Music Standards* were released on June 4, 2014 as part of a larger project, the *National Core Arts Standards*, which attempts to encompass educational standards for all of the arts. These standards went through a two-year process that directly involved music teachers, district-wide music administrators, college researchers, and professional teaching artists in the development process, three rounds of public review,

and the comments and suggestions of over 6,000 educators. "They are clearly not only *for* the profession but also *by* the profession" and are unique as they are the first set of objectives written by music teachers (NAfME 2014).

Unlike the 1997 National Standards for Music Education, which consisted primarily of demonstrated knowledge and skills, the new standards focused on conceptual understanding and centered on musical literacy, providing a framework for developing student independence through the three Artistic Processes of Creating, Performing, and Responding which are articulated through related Enduring Understanding exercises and Essential Questions. The adoption of the Three Artistic Processes model aided instructors who implemented it by more closely matching "the actual processes in which musicians engage" instead of teaching a single Content Standard from 1994 during a lesson as there was "no clear structure that helped teachers put the standards together" (Fehr 2014). The Core Music Standards were also more extensive than their predecessor as they provide different standards at the secondary level for music classes commonly found in schools – namely ensembles, guitar/harmonizing instruments, music composition/theory, and music technology (Appendix 4).

The *Core Music Standards* were paired with Model Cornerstone Assessments (MCAs), a set of newly developed, adaptable assessment tasks designed by and for music educators to assist students through each of the artistic processes and allowing them to demonstrate the quality of learning received according to the performance standards outlined in the *Core Music Standards*. MCAs provided an instructional and assessment framework teacher integrated into their curriculum to help measure student learning. They focused on students and were not designed to function as an evaluation of teacher

quality or effectiveness. They were to be used by teachers to inform instructional decisions and curricular choices, in the development of teacher education programs, and by State associations for the professional development of teachers and supervisors (Barrack and Parkes, n.d.). These standards, and the MCAs they were paired with, once again left "plenty of room for development and refinement at the state, district and classroom level" and were adopted voluntarily at each of these levels to varying degrees (Fehr 2014).

### **Evolutions in Federal Educational Policy**

Space Race and Effects on Music Education

In the 1960s, America was locked in a Cold War with the Soviet Union. This war was one that favored propaganda as much as military engagement, and the conflict bred constant comparisons between the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR) and the United States. Each attempting to avoid entering a third world war, the Americans and Soviets believed that maintaining the upper hand against one another was key to maintaining peace. When the USSR launched the first artificial satellite, Sputnik, into space in October 1957, a full year before the US had planned to launch its first satellite, not only did it reveal the fact that the Soviet Union had beaten the United States into space, but it also made clear that the Soviets possessed superior technology (Gregg 2016). This struggle played out in distinctly competitive policies on economic productivity, advancements in science and technology, and above all the exploration of space. This period was particularly challenging for music educators who lacked the resources to justify the inclusion of music in the educational curriculum, especially given the national attention to the sciences. This ultimately had an adverse effect on music education.

Dubbed the Sputnik Moment, this epiphanic time of seemingly imminent attack and major post-world-war educational reforms took place throughout the 1960s to encourage a new generation to join the Space Race and Cold War front. An emphasis on mathematics and the sciences spread across the nation through legislation such as the National Defense Education Act of 1958 (NDEA). Signed by President Dwight Eisenhower on September 2, 1958, the law provided funding to American public schools

to enable the educational system to "meet the demands posed by national security needs" and to bolster the United States' ability to compete in the fields of science and technology (Hunt, n.d.).

At the Biennial MENC Conference in Los Angeles in 1958, not long after Sputnik's launch, music teachers began to express concerns that curriculums were "emphasizing science at the expense of funding and support for the arts" (Fehr 2015). A second conference of a similar nature was held for general education at Woods Hole, Massachusetts in 1959 as a direct response to the Soviet Union's launch of the Sputnik satellite series. American educators feared that the USSR was surpassing the United States in emphasis on science, math, and foreign languages in its educational offerings, and the conference began a new, unified effort in educational planning. Educators across various fields came together to discuss the curricular priorities of the nation and the result was a discipline-based approach to education with an emphasis on conceptual learning that began the trend of emphasizing the sciences over the arts. At the Woods Hole Conference, music was categorized as aesthetic education for the first time. This was not intended to diminish the importance of music education but inadvertently had that effect by drawing a divide between aesthetic and academic education.

In a 1959 edition of *The Music Educators Journal* following the Woods Hole Conference, Alberta Lowe and Harold S. Pryor argued that an emphasis solely on the sciences would not be conducive for the betterment of the nation. They argued that American educators needed to acknowledge that the USSR saw the value in aesthetic education, including music, and placed "considerable emphasis on music education" despite many Americans being led to believe that Soviet schools were in fact the ones

"emphasizing science, math, and foreign languages at the expense of the courses that might be labeled cultural" (Lowe and Pryor 1959). Lowe and Pryor wrote that the incorporation of music in the everyday life of the Soviet people gave evidence that the sciences and mathematics were not the only areas of interest and that as American educators considered the challenge the Soviets presented, consideration should also be given to the importance of aesthetics and culture to the lives of their own people.

The theme of the 1962 Biennial Conference, "The Study of Music: An Academic Discipline," is another example of a discussion that resulted from the need to seek justification for music education's importance and resulted in associating improvement in other areas with music education to that end. In an attempt to explore the issues facing music educators, Yale University led a seminar in June 1963 entitled "Music Education in Our Schools: A Search for Improvement." "Prominent music educators, including MENC leaders, concluded the scope of music taught should be broadened to include additional types of music, including folk music and jazz," while Rock-and-roll was deemed unfit for classroom study (Fehr 2015). This was to allow opportunities to prepare students for individual performance and to expand the repertoire of band programs across America.

It was at the Yale Seminar that music educators discussed how students were being limited to the skill and interest level of their teachers. The seminar ended with the resolve that more emphasis should be placed on musicality, representation of all styles and cultures, and that theory and literature classes need to be offered to allow students the freedom to advance as individual and ensemble performers.

MENC was criticized for not playing a larger role at the Yale Seminar, where major changes came in music education, but the organization did not sponsor, organize, or send designated representatives. MENC was, however, heavily involved in the 1965 Seminar on Comprehensive Musicianship which was sponsored and held by their own Contemporary Music Project (CMP) as an outgrowth from other seminars held by the CMP at Ithaca College, Wichita University, and the Berkshire Music Center throughout 1964. Music educators gathered at Northwestern University with the objectives of reevaluating and improving the musical education of teachers to give them a "broad foundation of musicianship" from which to teach, adding courses for contemporary music theory and literature into curriculums and incorporating historical context into lessons (Comprehensive Musicianship 1968).

The lack of objective criteria and procedures to evaluate teachers continues to be a challenge for music educators today, just as it was in 1967 when the Airlie House Symposium was organized to devise a loose evaluative framework "closely paralleling the theory of comprehensive musicianship," as discussed during the Seminar on Comprehensive Musicianship two years prior, "and retaining at the same time the characteristics of each local program" (Evaluative Criteria 1968). The framework outlined by the symposium was devised over the course of four days by six regional directors, a large representation of IMCE course instructors, CMP Policy Committee members and staff, and experts in the field of education, testing, and curriculum design. It was based on the assessment of the students' improvement and growing understanding of techniques and attitudes acquired during the IMCE course as well as their application. The evaluative procedure produces a student profile of musicianship at the beginning and

end of each school year which, when grouped, should become an accurate representation of a local program. According to evaluative criteria, "This assessment [was] not an achievement or aptitude test for passing an academic muster," although direct testing, such as sight reading, was meant to reflect the student's ability to respond to an external demand and performance on independent student projects were meant to reflect the student's independent musicianship (Evaluative Criteria 1968).

Four overlapping, related categories comprised the proposed assessments: descriptive competence, performing competence, creative competence, and attitude. The first three categories are based on a student's knowledge and demonstrated experience of musical materials and techniques, while the fourth category "attempts to assess his attitude towards various musical activities and interests" (Evaluative Criteria 1968).

Hosted in 1967 to address music education's place amongst the "emerging ideology and maturing of the nation as a whole" and the now urgent problems that "the entire music profession as well as other arts" were facing, the ten-day Tanglewood Symposium gathered business and labor leaders, federal and state lawmakers, philanthropists, scientists and sociologists, and music educators, including MENC leaders, together to look at the topic: Music in Modern Society.

Among the symposium's conclusions, it was confirmed that "music teachers should be equipped to teach students, regardless of socioeconomic background or ethnicity, and that the history and literature of music should be included" (Choate 1968). Attendees also discussed the characteristics of the emerging age, trends in contemporary music of the time, the impact of the behavioral sciences and the potential benefits they

presented, the nature and nurture of creativity, and means of cooperation amongst institutions and educators across the field.

The Tanglewood Symposium's discussions and findings were summarized into *The Tanglewood Declaration* "which provided a philosophical basis for future developments in music education" and which MENC leaders embraced, particularly the call for music to be placed in the core of the school curriculum. Its conclusions gave the association a framework for its future. The responsibility for implementation lied with MENC members and officials at the local, state, and national levels. "Appropriate action now [became] a professional imperative" (Choate 1968). To implement *The Tanglewood Declaration*, MENC established the Goals and Objectives Project (GO Project) in 1969 under Paul R. Lehrman. The GO Project sought to identify the future professional needs of MENC and of the profession in general.

The broad goal of MENC was to conduct programs and activities to build a vital musical culture and an enlightened musical public. The goals of the profession were to carry out comprehensive music programs in all schools, to involve persons of all ages in learning music, to support the quality preparation of teachers, and to use the most effective music education techniques and resources (Mark 2015).

The GO Project identified thirty-five objectives (see Appendix 5), of which MENC selected eight to serve as priorities for the future of the organization (see Appendix 6).

Despite the multitude of conventions held throughout the 1950s and 60s to discuss and address the issue, music education continued to be viewed as less academically engaging and less rewarding in the long term than the maths and sciences. In 2000, NAfME published *The Housewright Declaration* which asked educators and legislators alike to preserve "the integrity of music study" and to move past the notion of music

being "viewed by some as a means of teaching or reinforcing skills and content from other subject areas" (NAfME 1999; Branscome 2016). The declaration also asked that time for formal music instruction for all levels be incorporated into the school day "which suggests that either students were being pulled from music classes for extended learning in other areas or music class time was being diminished to allow longer class periods in other subjects" (Branscome 2016).

#### No Child Left Behind Act

President George W. Bush reauthorized the Elementary and Secondary Education Act in 2002 as the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB). While former Secretary of Education Rod Paige was a supporter of the arts and claimed that NCLB provided flexibility "to include arts in their curriculum and enumerated places where they could ask for discretionary federal money for arts programming," in practice, the law brought an increase in educational accountability through test scores, resulting in a narrowing of the national curriculum (Whitehorne 2006). Educators across subjects, and across the nation, felt the pressure implemented by the new legislation, but music educators especially found adapting the new standards difficult. The result was an increased focus on tested subjects such as math, the sciences, and languages, and a decreased emphasis on non-tested subjects such as the arts (Pederson 2007).

NCLB's increased emphasis on achievement, safer schools, and higher graduation rates through data driven results had unintentionally negative effects on the field of music education because of the innate difficulty in providing quantifiable results such as test scores. The *National Standards for Music Education* designed by MENC in 1997 and the associated assessments by NAEP had never been adopted as critical evaluation standards

for the nation. Increases in non-musical graduation requirements, the transition into block scheduling, the increased number of magnet and charter schools, and the heavy emphasis on testing created by NCLB were also concerns facing music educators (Kerstetter 2011).

A 2006 study by the Center on Education Policy in Washington, D.C. found, according to administrator reports, that elementary music and art instruction in 22 percent of the city's districts had been reduced in order to allow more time for reading and mathematics (Whitehorne 2006). Reflected in NAfME's 2007 *The Benefits of the Study of Music*, an attempt to verbalize and summarize the concerns of music educators and advocates across America and to remind the government of music education and its benefits for students, are the frustrations of music educators and advocates alike finding themselves proving the benefits of the subject, once again.

The law continued to receive mixed praise and criticism before it was reauthorized with reforms as the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) in 2018. In an effort to get states aligned with the new goals identified in ESSA and infuse struggling schools with funds, the government decided to move forward with the Race to the Top grant program.

## Race to the Top

On February 17, 2009, President Obama signed the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA) into law. The grant program, known as the Race to the Top Initiative and funded by ARRA, provided funds to those states that adopted the national educational standards set forth in ESSA, but it also brought about extreme frustration for music educators who struggled with the evaluation systems in place.

ARRA provided \$4.35 billion to the Race to the Top (RTTT) Fund, "a competitive grant program designed to encourage and reward states" that strove to improve their schools by implementing change in the four core reform areas: "1) adopting standards and assessments for college/workplace prep, 2) building data system of student growth & success, recruiting, 3) developing, rewarding and retaining teachers/principals where needed, and 4) turning around lowest-achieving schools" (U.S. Department of Education 2009).

States were asked to submit applications before they were analyzed and were awarded points in each of the six categories of evaluation (Appendix 7) to determine which states would be selected to receive funding in the first phase of the initiative and which needed to reform their educational plans before being eligible for the second phase of funding. Of the six educational priorities listed in the Executive Summary of the Race to the Top Act, none mention the social sciences or fine arts. Priority number two, on the other hand, is stated as an "emphasis on Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM)" (U.S. Department of Education 2009).

In 2011, President Obama described the nation's international economic, societal, technological, and educational circumstances as "our generation's Sputnik moment" (Barack 2011). The nation was recommitting itself to education, to its future, to improvement- but it was pledging itself to STEM subjects as it had in the 1960s, and music educators were feeling the strain.

After President Obama's ARRA established the RTTT Fund, Tennessee "jumped to the front of the nation's education reform pack" in January 2010 by passing "the largest piece of education legislation in Tennessee since 1992," The First to the Top Law,

which showed the state's intent to reform education legislation with or without government funding (Boser 2012). On March 29, 2010, Tennessee was awarded \$500 million in RTTT grant funds during the first phase of the competition. The US Department of Education praised Tennessee as having submitted an application that "stood out above all others" (Hamilton 2010).

Soon after RTTT's implementation, it began receiving serious backlash from educators across multiple disciplines. "On one hand, teachers are told to embrace the [new] standards and a different way of teaching," said Marcy Singer-Gabella, a researcher at Vanderbilt University who helps run a charter school in Memphis. "And on the other hand, they're being pushed toward traditional, directive instruction through testing," she said. "If you're going to be paid based on this, what are you going to choose as a teacher?" (quoted in Tatter 2015).

So how could subjects like music education, which are not test driven, prove their worth? Easily observable outcomes from students often come in the form of a collective effort, such as large group performance evaluation ratings, which limits the ability of the teacher to perform accurate performance evaluations on individual students. While voluntarily adopted assessment procedures for student performance had been developed in the form of the *National Standards for Music Education 1997*, they had not been adopted by every school district. There was no standardized method of evaluating music educators as RTTT required.

So, the question remained: with their jobs, salaries, and field at stake, how could music educators establish the required "rigorous, transparent, and fair evaluation systems for teachers and principals" based on "multiple rating categories that take into account

data on student growth as a significant factor" as stated in the RTTT Executive Summary (U.S. Department of Education 2009)? Educators were also asked to measure student achievement by directly attributing it to themselves as individual teachers in a certain subject, as well as to show how student success could be measured according to the curriculum and its adaptation to national standards. Music education advocacy and support groups such as NAfME and the Tennessee Music Education Association published several statements and guides breaking down the wording of the RTTT Executive Summary in order to suggest ways music educators could fulfill the requirements. These publications all follow a similar theme and were written to help music educators protect themselves and their students, suggesting and sometimes even stating that the field itself felt threatened by the newest piece of legislation.

Upon RTTT's initial implementation, Tennessee educators were assessed by the Tennessee Value-Added Assessment System (TVAAS) as adopted by Governor Bredesen in the Tennessee Diploma Act in 2010 (State Collaborative on Reforming Education 2010). Upon the evaluation model's implementation, there were teachers in non-tested subjects that did not have a TVAAS score and instead were instructed to use complementing department scores as their own (McKamey 2014). Theater instructors used their school's English instructor's TVAAS scores and music educators relied on a combination or a weighted average of the English and Mathematic departmental TVAAS scores, depending on the school (McKamey 2014). As the Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange of University of Tennessee Knoxville stated in their educational reform review, "many complaints came from this method" and as of 2014 this was "still the method for determining non-tested instructor scores" in some counties (McKamey

2014). The use of other academic scores in order to evaluate music education continued the trend seen under George W. Bush's NCLB of using music education as a means to teach other subjects rather than as an important and valid subject in and of itself.

### **Every Student Succeeds Act**

The Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) was signed into law with bipartisan support by President Obama on December 10, 2015 and began to take effect August 1, 2016. Whereas RTTT was a grant awarding incentive competition rewarding states for reforming their own educational policies to match a national standard, ESSA is the law that has replaced NCLB and purported "to provide all children significant opportunity to receive a fair, equitable, and high-quality education, and to close educational achievement gaps" (Every Student Succeeds Act 2015). ESSA recognizes that the NCLB approach to accountability was "critical in ensuring a quality education for all children, yet also revealed challenges in the effective implementation of this goal" (Every Student Succeeds Act 2015). This reauthorization of the ESSA planned to amend and continue state assessments, education of migratory children, prevention and intervention for neglected, delinquent, or at-risk youth, and federal evaluation activities (ESSA Section 1002).

For music education, ESSA brought a fundamental and yet monumental change into education legislation. Section 4104. b.3ai.II of the ESSA specifically notes that state funds should be used to "offer well-rounded educational experiences to all students" and that this well-rounded education can come specifically through "activities and programs in music and the arts" (Every Student Succeeds Act 2015). This replaces the previous

wording of "core academic subjects" which were identified as "English, reading or language arts, math, science, foreign languages, civics and government, economics, arts, history and geography" in NCLB (U.S. Department of Education 2009). The vagueness in the NCLB definition of arts meant that music was not under federal protection as one of these core academic subjects.

Middle Tennessee music educators felt the strain of the new educational policies immediately. Ron Meers, a retired Tennessee Band director, recounted during an interview for this thesis that the high school where he was last employed directed RTTT funds designated for the arts towards computer and web design classes using the lack of specification as the reason. Because the ESSA includes a specific mention of music as a part of a well-rounded education, music education was placed, for the first time in American history, under the protection of federal law as a part of a complete education and eligible for use of Title I funds (Everything ESSA, n.d.). The wording is used throughout the law and extends the right of music education to minority, native, disadvantaged, disabled students, learning centers, charter schools, and magnet schools. Additionally, wording allows schools to provide "programs and activities that use music and the arts as tools to support student success through the promotion of constructive student engagement, problem solving, and conflict resolution," indicators that legislators were informed on the benefits music education can provide students (Every Student Succeeds Act 2015).

While the ESSA does not forbid pull-outs, "the new ESSA does include language that discourages removing students from the classroom, including music and arts, for remedial instruction. This encourages more classroom time for music, with fewer

interruptions, including test preparation" (NAfME 2016). This seems to suggest a recognition on the federal legislative level that music should be taught for music's sake, moving away from the use of music education as a means to teach other subjects as seen during the NCLB and RTTT eras.

States were asked to create accountability systems to track progress in tested subjects, such as reading, mathematics, and science in order to receive federal financial support similar to under NCLB. However, states were given significantly more freedom to design these accountability systems and were expected to provide alternative systems for non-tested subject areas such as music education. ESSA does not require states to connect teacher evaluation systems with student progress as NCLB did, although it does allow states to use federal funds to build teacher evaluation systems which may include student progress as one way of measuring teacher progress.

Upon its codification, music education advocates such as NAfME were enthusiastic, stating, "Essentially, the door is now wide open—more than any time in the history of this legislation—for discussions at the state and local level as to how federal dollars can be used to provide a broader and richer curriculum for students... we are truly now all in this together, and the future for music education looks bright!" (NAfME 2016).

Under the Every Student Succeeds Act, the focus is on state empowerment, meaning that states are given more power to make decisions in how they evaluate and support teachers and students alike. States decide how the funds are allocated, and music education advocates like NAfME and TMEA urged fellow advocates to write to their state representatives on the importance of music education.

Tennessee's ESSA State Implementation Plan, updated August 13, 2018, reflects the legislative change by also including music in the definition of a "well-rounded" student and approving music as one of the 21st Century Community Learning Centers activities. In the state's implementation plan, the Department of Education writes:

Tennessee believes that all students should receive a high-quality education that also provides well-rounded experiences and prepares all students for life after high school. By supporting the whole child and a supportive learning environment, we will promote equity and excellence for all of our students. It is imperative that students have access to coursework and activities that interest them. We heard from hundreds of parents and educators how critical arts and music, health and wellness, mental health services, counseling, sports, and clubs are in a student's development, as well as supporting students' academic interests and lifelong learning. The TDOE [, Tennessee Department of Education,] will use the flexibility under Title IV, Part A, the new Student Support and Academic Enrichment (SSAE) program, to allow districts and schools the flexibility they need to invest these new federal resources wisely in meeting the needs of all students to attain a holistic, well-rounded education (Tennessee Department of Education 2018).

While the general reaction to ESSA was positive upon its proposal and becoming law, the music education community was disillusioned by ESSA's actual implementation. In the fiscal year 2017 budget proposal, Congress appropriated \$400 million for the Student Support and Academic Enrichment (SSAE) grant program established by Title IV, Part A of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), a fraction of the \$1.65 billion authorized by the original law (NAfME 2017). SSAE grants provide "supplemental funding... including providing students access to a well-rounded education (e.g. music and arts)" (The Music Education Policy Roundtable 2017). The severe budget limitations drove many states to allocate funds to testable subjects rather than the arts.

On the state level, Tennessee committed to provide "each district with at least \$10,000 to be used as the district chooses to support Well-Rounded Educational

Opportunities, Safe and Healthy Students, and Effective Use of Technology" (Federal Funding for Music 2017). In 2017, Tennessee listed music education as a potential program to receive funding for the 21st Century Learning Community Centers-- after-school programs supported by federal funds-- as one of only four states to do so.

Tennessee did not, however, include music in its Accountability, Dashboard/Report Cards, Title IV, Professional Development Support, Homeless Children and Youth, or Schools in Improvement Resources programs (Tuttle 2017). This is to say, while music education funding was available on the federal level, Tennessee chose to allocate those funds to different areas of their educational plan. Due to the limited nature of the national funds provided, Tennessee also chose where to allocate its resources assigned to different projects through competitive grants, meaning many districts were not able to receive the support they needed.

For the fiscal year 2018, President Trump's "proposed budget did not include any funding for Title IV, Part A" otherwise known as SSAE grants (Dye 2017). The House Appropriations Committee, however, countered with a proposed \$500 million in funding for Title IV, Part A. Due in large part to public outcry, Title IV, Part A was awarded \$1.1 billion for the 2018-19 school year (Klein 2018).

# NEA and Proposed Dismantlement

Congress established the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA) in 1965 as an independent federal agency designed to partner with other federal and state arts agencies, local leaders, and philanthropists to fund and support arts learning, America's rich and diverse cultural heritage, and equal access to the arts. The NEA does so through programs

that give Americans the opportunity to participate in the arts, exercise their imaginations, and develop creative capacities.

The NEA is governed by the Chairman of the National Endowment who is advised by The National Council on the Arts. This position is appointed by the President of the United States and confirmed by Congress. The President is bound by law to select members that have expertise and interests in the art, have distinguished knowledge, service, or achievement in the arts, and who represent all geographic areas equitably.

The NEA cannot lobby for its own budget or participate in any activity attempting to sway congressional representatives since it is a federal agency, bound by law to refrain from such activities. However, the agency can, and continues to "actively educate the public about its vital role in serving our nation's communities" through the publication of data concerning the NEA's impact on local communities, maintaining an active media presence, responding to congressional requests, as well as continuing to support the arts including music education (NAfME 2020).

The NEA explains its purpose in the following way on their website: Private funding will not sustain the arts nationally if public funding goes away. Charitable giving as a whole in the United States is geographically disproportionate, with rural areas receiving only 5.5 percent of all philanthropic dollars. Arts Endowment funding makes sure there is equitable distribution of funds, particularly for underserved communities, across the nation. Research shows that even a low level of public funding can stimulate private giving... In FY 2016, this additional investment resulted in \$500 million in matching support (NAfME 2020).

The NEA is praised as having "raised a banner of education and accessibility" for students nationwide, but support for the agency has never been universal (The National Endowment for the Arts: A History 2008). Opposition to the NEA argues that the arts should follow the capitalistic model in a 'survival of the fittest' philosophy where only commercially viable art forms see success. Others like Fox News' Tucker Carlson claim the NEA functions as "welfare for rich liberal elites... who consume the products that they produce" (quoted in Lalami 2017). Many Americans view the NEA and its sister agency the National Endowment for the Humanities as tax burdens.

During the presidency of President George W. Bush (proposing budgets for Fiscal Year 2002-2009), the NEA saw consistent growth in funding from \$115,220,000 in 2002 to \$155,000,000 in 2009, excluding an additional \$50 million provided by the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. While debate over whether the NEA's function serves a role in public life has been consistent since its founding, the former Chairman Dana Gioia spoke out in 2008 that he found "this question had become moot, at least as a policy matter... The Arts Endowment [had] undergone severe budget cuts and a reduction in staff, but its continuing existence [was] assured" (Buerlein and Grantham 2008).

In its fortieth year, despite a reduced administrative budget, the NEA handled a 30 percent increase in grant applications and a 12 percent increase in grants awarded without increasing staff size. Congress rewarded the agency in December 2007 by awarding the NEA the largest budget increase in twenty-nine years. The show of confidence from Congress in the NEA's abilities at the tail end of the Bush administration and President-elect Barack Obama's vocal support of federal cultural agencies left the NEA and its supporters poised for continued growth.

During President Barack Obama's terms (proposing budgets for FY 2010-2017), the NEA's budget fluctuated, falling during the first term from an all-time high of

\$167,500,000 in 2010 to \$138,383,218 in 2013 before reaching over \$145,000,000 in 2017 through annual increases. The lowest budget under President Obama still exceeded any budget awarded to the program before 2007. Under President Trump (proposing budgets for FY 2018-present), the NEA's budget has increased annually and for FY 2019 was announced at \$155,000,000.

The budget awarded to the NEA is proposed by the President and then voted on by Congress, meaning it is not always the most accurate representation of the administration and the government's stance on the arts. The 2002 budget proposal by President Bush was raised by \$10.22 million, for instance, while the 2003 budget proposal was lowered by Congress by \$1,269,000. While funding awarded to the NEA in 2018 was an increase from the budget of the previous year, it was in direct opposition to President Trump's proposed 2018 budget.

In his proposal, President Trump recommended the dismantlement of the National Endowment for the Arts and suggested allocating no funds to the agency. NEA Chairwoman at the time, Jane Chu, responded the same day, writing, "We are disappointed because we see our funding actively making a difference with individuals of all ages in thousands of communities, large, small, urban and rural, and in every Congressional District in the nation" (Chu 2017). She continued to say that she and the NEA understood the President's budget to be the first of many steps in the process and expressed her confidence that Congress would consider the impact the dismantlement would have on America. She reminded readers that the agency cannot actively engage in advocacy on its own behalf, but that it had and would continue to publish information on its vital role in communities across the nation. Congress awarded \$152,849,000 more

than President Trump's proposed budget for the Fiscal Year 2018, a bipartisan and bicameral decision.

In his FY 2019 budget proposal, President Trump allocated no funds to the NEA, and in March 2019, Trump once again announced that his FY 2020 budget would eliminate the NEA entirely. In response to his 2019 proposal, Congress awarded \$155,000,000. The presidential budget proposal for the 2020 fiscal year did not include any mention of the NEA, rather the Trump administration demanded the elimination of the NEA in a subsequent document entitled 2020 Major Savings and Reforms. The document claims that "activities funded by NEA are not considered core Federal responsibilities and make up only a small fraction of the billions spent each year by arts nonprofit organizations" (Office of Management and Budget 2019b). It goes on to say that "the Administration believes audiences and aficionados are better than the Government at deciding what art is good or important" (Office of Management and Budget 2019b).

The proposed budget for the NEA in FY 2020 was \$29 billion so as to provide sufficient funding for the "orderly termination of all operations" over the next two years (Office of Management and Budget 2019b). The NEA, relying on the new Democratic majority in Congress, continued to accept grant applications for FY 2020 even though they were unsure if they would be able to fund these grants. In their Appropriations Requests for the Fiscal Year 2020, submitted to Congress in March 2019, the NEA requested a minimum of \$29.333 billion to "fulfill its Federal responsibilities for grants and cooperative agreements awarded prior to FY 2020" and to support the staffing and administrative costs the agency would incur until its operations were shut down (NAfME

2019). Instead, Congress awarded \$162,250,000 in a bicameral show of support for the arts, a \$7.25-million increase to the NEA budget, its largest since 2013 (NAfME, n.d.).

At the time of this writing, the FY 2020 budget is in effect and President Trump has offered his budget proposal for FY 2021. On February 10th, 20200, for the fourth year in a row, Trump's \$4.8 trillion "Budget for America's Future" called for the complete elimination of the National Endowment for the Arts and the National Endowment for the Humanities. Under the heading "Stopping Wasteful and Unnecessary Spending," the budget states that the "activities funded by NEA/NEH are not considered core Federal responsibilities and make up only a small fraction of the billions spent each year by arts and humanities nonprofit organizations," similar to the FY 2020 budget (Office of Management and Budget 2020). For the first time, Trump included \$30 million in his budget proposal to conduct the orderly closeout of the NEA.

CEO of Americans for the Arts Robert Lynch appealed to Congress in his testimony for the House Interior Appropriations Subcommittee in February 2020 to continue to disregard this administrations misguided view of the arts in light of the fact that "for more than 50 years, the NEA has expanded access to the arts for all Americans, awarding grants in every Congressional district throughout all 50 states and US territories, particularly benefiting communities that have fewer opportunities to experience the arts" (Bishara 2020). "While primarily a matter for private and local initiative, [the arts] are also appropriate matters of concern to the Federal Government" according to the law that created the national endowment (National Endowment for the Humanities 2020). The NEA was never designed to replace private support for the arts, as is stated in the act, but NEA grants "are leveraged by other public and private

contributions up to 9:1, significantly increasing the impact of the federal investment" according to an NEA spokesperson (Davis 2020b).

The NEA was designed to help correct the biases of private support, unlike what the current administration claims in its budget proposal. The first NEA Report (1964-1965) recognizes the arts "as a vital part of our national life, and not a luxury" and the NEA has worked to provide support to communities underserved by private giving. Davis (2020b) notes that in a time where wealth has never been more concentrated, "private philanthropy is notoriously unequal, flowing to flashy showpiece institutions and pooling in localities where rich people are concentrated. The art market is even more a direct reflection of the concentration of wealth". According to the new, Trump appointed, NEA Chairwoman Mary Anne Carter:

For every county in America that has a high school, National Endowment for the Arts is there, either through our Poetry Out Loud competition or our Musical Theater Songwriting Challenge. The same cannot be said for private foundations. A review of the art giving of the top 1000, yes, 1000 private foundations shows that those private dollars don't reach 65% of American counties. In contrast, the National Endowment for the Arts is in 779 more counties than private foundations. 779 counties, 25% of America where the National Endowment for the Arts provides funding where the top 1000 private foundations do not... Access to arts funding should not depend on one's proximity to private philanthropy. This is what makes support of the National Endowment for the Arts indispensable (Carter 2019).

Robert Lynch (2020) gave hope to arts advocates by saying, "clearly, both chambers of Congress have consistently rejected this unilateral effort on the administration's part. Americans for the Arts will again work with Congress to not only reject this misdirected budget request but further increase funding for these important cultural agencies," as he urged the House Interior Appropriations Subcommittee to increase NEA funding to \$170 million this upcoming year (Davis 2020).

While the National Endowment for the Arts does not typically fund school music programs directly, the grants claim to have a "tremendous impact on many outreach programs that benefit music students" (Dye 2017). On a national level, the NEA promotes March as Music In Our Schools Month alongside NAfME, publishes and shares information promoting the importance of music in education, shares and generates lesson plans for the interdisciplinary integration of music in the classroom, funds research into the benefits of music education, and awards funds to projects that attempt to refine student achievement assessment procedures and to provide a framework for measuring growth. These projects have been vital to educators since the implementation of the RTTT era which placed performance evaluation at the center of grant allocation decisions and education evaluation. The NEA has also supported the development of educational standards for arts education, another area that educators have struggled with since the days of NCLB.

The grants given by the NEA "have supported many of Tennessee's most successful non-profit music initiatives" (Dye 2017). In the last decade, the NEA has provided support to various music initiatives, launched primarily by major non-profits such as symphonies rather than individual school districts or band programs (Appendix 8).

## TMEA and Advocacy in Tennessee

Music education in Tennessee has a long and proud history. The Tennessee Music Education Association (TMEA, sometimes abbreviated TnMEA to avoid confusion with the Texas Music Educators Association) appears for the first time in the Sept.-Oct 1945 edition of the *Music Educators Journal* (MEJ) as an "affiliated state unit" in Vol. XXXII, No 1, where the journal heartily welcomes the new association- but music has been a required offering for public elementary school instruction in Tennessee since 1917 and the State Department of Education established rules stipulating that "a minimum of sixty minutes of instruction per week be provided for elementary grade students" for decades (Bulletin Board 1945, Hinton 1998).

After the last of the 1922 MSNC sessions in Nashville, the Southern members formed a new conference and elected Paul J. Weaver president for the inaugural year. The new Southeastern Conference existed as a branch of the National Conference and consisted of the following states: Texas, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Tennessee, Kentucky, North and South Carolina, West Virginia and Virginia. (Hinton 1998).

The Tennessee Education Association (TEA), a branch of the largest labor union and professional interest group in the United States the National Education Association, had sectional music organizations but music education was not its primary focus. The sections consisted of the Middle Tennessee School Band and Orchestra Association (MTSBOA) (formed in 1938), the East Tennessee School Band and Orchestra Association (ETSBOA) (1939), and the West Tennessee School Band and Orchestra Association (WTSBOA) (1939).

All-state activities have been of particular interest to secondary vocal and instrumental teachers; these affairs have been at the forefront of much of the music educator's association's efforts and have often dominated *The Tennessee Musician*, the TMEA official magazine which began publication in the fall of 1948 (Hinton 1998). The magazine traditionally releases four issues per year centered around the association's happenings, activities of regional groups, individual school and college programs-activities, as well as personalities and matters of concern to the profession.

In early years, all-state ensembles performed at the national TEA conferences while all-region groups were presented at TEA sectional conferences. TEA provided the funds in support of these groups until the 1940s when even before the formation of TMEA festivals, concerts, and clinics were being sponsored by the various sectional groups. TMEA began sponsored all-state festivals and assembling them into east, middle and west instrumental and vocal associations, while the administration and instruction remained up to the TEA, beginning in 1950 with-TEA convention in Knoxville. In 1964, TMEA began organizing and funding the all-state band, chorus and orchestras independently in conjunction with its annual convention. In the 1970s, jazz bands were added. As the sectional associations within TMEA— East, Middle, and West Tennessee—reminiscent of TEA's organization, became a codified part of TMEA in 1978, and regional festivals and clinics continued to expand. In 2013, two additional all-state instrumental groups were added for a total of eight ensembles.

The Tennessee Music Education Association (TMEA) was formed in 1945, "thirty-eight years after the organizing of the Music Supervisors' National Conference, and twenty-three years after the founding of the Southern Section Conference in Nashville" (Hinton 1998). It was among twenty-six other states to form statewide associations that decade. In his history of the organization, T. Earl Hinton concludes that the delay of Tennessee's organization can be attributed to the dominance of rural life, the Great Depression, and World War II. From the ranks of those active in the music education the advocacy scene in Tennessee, Maurice Haste was elected founding president. The congratulatory wishes on organizing in the March 1946 edition of *The Tennessee Teacher* make clear that, despite the significant gap in time between the organization of the Music Supervisors' National Conference and the TMEA's founding, there was an active discussion about the formation of a statewide association.

From its inception, TMEA set out to function "as the music section of the Tennessee Education Association and as the state unit of the Music Educators National Conference" (The Tennessee Musician 1949). It was originally conceived to become a part of the TEA in a similar way to the national organization (MSNC/MENC) and its relationship to the National Education Association.

Its long-awaited arrival was met with great initial success. In its first year, TMEA sponsored the music for the 1946 Tennessee Educators Association meeting in Nashville and found immediate adoption from the three educational sections of Tennessee as their official music section. In October 1948, in conjunction with the State Department of Education, the association established a state program to help rural and classroom teachers with music education. Collegiate music education departments and music supervisors volunteered their services to organize workshops for teachers and lend support to programs in their respective geographic areas (Hinton 1998). The following

year, the May-June 1949 headline of *The Tennessee Musician* read, "Approximately 150,000 Children Reached Through State Program" (The Tennessee Musician 1949).

In the fall of 1950, Education Commissioner J.A. Barksdale formed a State Music Advisory Committee to which he appointed acting TMEA President Edward Hamilton as a member. The Music Advisory Committee was expanded in 1951 when a TMEA Projects Committee was appointed to improve music education with emphasis on elementary school programs in rural areas. The incorporation of TMEA projects into state committee agendas demonstrates the close relationship between the agency and the state's government at the time. Beginning in the late 1950s and continuing for two decades, all music professors from four-year colleges governed by the State Board of Education were asked to serve as regional consultants.

Articles in the earliest volumes of *The Tennessee Musician* show that elementary music instruction did not dominate the interest and affairs of the new association. Instead, these volumes showed the diversity of the activities of high school groups in the state including festivals, personnel, trends, and pictures of performing groups. Most secondary band directors in Tennessee, at the time and to this day, belong to TMEA because of the requirement of the association that one must be a member before one's group, or before any student, can participate in regional or state performances. The advocacy for and advancement of primary, elementary, secondary, and collegiate music education remains TMEA's primary goal today. Recently, the TMEA has launched federal programs such as legislative lobbying and the dissemination of the 1994 MENC *National Standards for Arts Education* in an effort to reform legislation.

Throughout its history TMEA has claimed varying degrees of affiliation with TEA and the State Department of Education. The first State Music Consultant was Gladys Tipton whose term was served in the late 1940s. Two decades followed without an arts consultant designated to the State Department of Education until 1961, when the State Department under Education Commissioner Joe Morgan established the State Arts Consultant position, a precursor to the position of Director of Arts Education established under the Tennessee Arts Commission. Hinton (1998) stated, "From the beginning the position has been responsible for all the arts. Effectiveness of the office has varied considerably as has its relationship to TMEA."

The 84th Tennessee General Assembly formed the Tennessee Arts Commission (TAC) in 1967, composed of fifteen Governor-appointed citizens for a three-year term to represent the interests of various arts with an original budget of \$50,000 (Hinton 1998). The commission served as a grant-making group for state and federal funds, sponsored special projects throughout the state, and hosted an annual governor's conference; but TAC, a state-run organization, and TMEA, a music educator's association, have had very few direct relations and have not partnered together on a major project in the past.

TAC's major contribution came in 2018 when, under the leadership of the Shelby County Schools Fine Arts Advisor Dr. Dru Davidson, they developed the *Tennessee Academic Standards for Fine Arts*. These standards, a combination of "the best parts of the NCAS [, National Core Academic Standards,] and... the knowledge and experience of Tennessee teachers," offers specific expectations for instrumental music in grades nine through twelve (Tennessee Fine Arts Standards 2018). Recognizing that "concepts covered in the Create, Connect, and Respond domains are accessible only after students are thoroughly

versed in the fundamental skills necessary to perform on an instrument," the new standards focus on musical literacy appropriate for the ability level of the student rather than on grade level (Tennessee Department of Education 2018). The Tennessee Department of Education states, "The standards are written for flexible application in high school choral and instrumental ensembles, wherein assigning musical or developmental level is at the discretion of the individual teacher" (Tennessee Department of Education 2018). This means that first-year ensemble members, even if they are high school seniors, are designated as high school level one musicians and assessed accordingly. This state funded adaptation of the *Core Music Standards* followed its inspiration's example and became a benchmark and tool for teachers to use as they built individual curriculums to satisfy their county's expectations.

State law T.C.A. §49-6-1025, ratified in 2008, specifies that "the course of instruction in all public schools for kindergarten through grade eight (K-8) shall include art and music education to help each student foster creative thinking, spatial learning, discipline, craftsmanship and the intrinsic rewards of hard work." The law specifies that while schools were encouraged to integrate the arts into other core academic subjects, they were also encouraged to provide course offerings in the arts and to fully implement the art and music standards (amended to "curriculum" in 2016) adopted by the board of education.

The specifications for secondary schools are more vague Tennessee State Board of Education (SBE) Policy 2.103 stipulates one full credit of fine arts as a Tennessee graduation requirement, this requirement can be filled by course offerings in multiple arts disciplines, such as history and appreciation of visual and performing arts, as well as

standards-based fine art courses including visual arts, dance, media arts, theatre, and vocal and instrumental music. The inclusion of fine arts as a graduation requirement should indicate Tennessee's dedication to promoting the arts, however a closer look at the law reveals that taking fine art courses such as band all four years of high school proves difficult. Since Section 19 specifies that T.C.A. § 49-6-1010 "requires every candidate for graduation to have received a full year of computer education at some time during the candidate's educational career," many students are forced to go a year without participating in their fine arts programs to satisfy this requirement, even if they choose the arts as the focus of their three elective credits (Tennessee Department of Education Policy 2.103 2009).

Section 17, the same section which requires students to complete a fine arts credit, also allows school districts to waive this requirement "to expand and enhance the elective focus" such as taking Advanced Placement (AP) or International Baccalaureate (IB) classes which can be classified as elective credits (Tennessee Department of Education Policy 2.103 2009). If a student wanted to take additional classes that will be rewarded on the collegiate level, they would need to have the AP or IB class counted in place of a relevant subject's credit requirement or give up participating in the fine arts (Tennessee Department of Education Policy 2.103 2009).

## **Challenges for Band Directors in Tennessee**

As previously discussed, the intent of federal legislation and state-level use of funding are often not parallel. States such as Tennessee have a history of vague allocation of federal resources, and school districts often direct resources away from music programs and toward subjects that generate quantifiable data used for future funding. Music programs, particularly bands, often struggle to provide necessary resources.

Tennessee Music Education Association Executive Director and music educator Ron Meers estimates the operating cost of a typical Tennessee band program to be between \$250,000-\$350,000 annually for a group of approximately 100 students. This estimate includes travel expenses and basic operational costs, not including staff salaries and excluding nationally competitive programs. Programs which include a highly competitive marching band incur exponentially greater costs when factoring uniforms, travel, food and drink costs, entry fees for local and national competitions, and the additional equipment necessary.

Choreographers, visual coordinators, color guard instructors, drumline technicians, instrumental technicians, and other temporary and seasonal staff members are included for bands across the budgetary spectrum. Large marching band programs competing at the top level have budgets that are considerably above the average, ranging from \$750,000-\$1,000,000 annually (Klein 2018b). Additionally, high school ensemble, particularly marching units, often absorb costs related to purchase of sheet music and copyright permission to arrange music. Sheet music to a concert piece can cost around easily \$50-\$100 per title while having a show written for a marching band can reasonably cost from \$1,000 - \$2500 (Barack 2015; Music Arranging Cost 2019).

For a traditional concert band, equipment such as stands, folders, chairs, racks, lockers for instruments, office supplies, and printer ink are required. Other expenses might include piano tuning, uniform cleaning and maintenance, music library storage and maintenance, professional development, technology, guest speakers and technicians, and other related costs. The cost of outfitting every student with an instrument, keeping up with repairs, and maintaining the rest of the program is tremendous and is often unattainable for even well-funded band programs, but it is especially difficult for rural and low-income districts.

Erin Elgass, band director at Sycamore Middle School in Pleasant View

Tennessee, shared that she feels the need to mentally prepare her students before they
compete against or interact with students from Metro Nashville schools because she feels
the advantages Metro Nashville band program students have allow them to advance at a
different rate than her students, regardless of their natural talent. She explained that her
school is unable to hire or even facilitate private lessons since the school is too far away
and has too small a budget to incentivize any professional musician to drive to Pleasant
View and give lessons. She went on to say that the cost of private lessons and betterquality instruments is also a luxury many of her students cannot afford. Gibson (2016)
found that "higher festival scores were consistently earned by programs with more
students, larger budgets, and more instructors."

Elsewhere in Middle Tennessee, keeping a band program active is a struggle. In Pikeville, the Bledsoe County Schools Board voted unanimously to reinstate the band program after the high school band director's position was eliminated days before a concert in May 2017. The school board cited budgetary reasons as the primary reason for

the disbanding of the program, despite the fact that the band's funds primarily came from the band parent organization and fundraising. After many in the community described this as an "attack on the arts" and the public outcry became deafening, the school board partially reestablished the band as an after-school group in June (WTVC News 2017).

For Bledsoe County, one of the poorest in the state, this meant that the program would not be placed under the same laws regarding fees as other band programs that are a part of the official curriculum. After considerable public response continued, including a letter sent to the Bledsoe County Board of Education by the TMEA, the board was persuaded to fully restore the program in July 2017. At that point, however, former band director Frank Hudson had found employment at another school believing the program to be disbanded. The Bledsoe County High School band has since been taken over by the choral director in addition to the choir program.

In speaking with Middle Tennessee band directors, it became clear that while "it's possible some of the program's funding comes from federal funds, compared to the entire budget, it's tiny," and band directors often don't know they are receiving federal money (Meers 2020). Band programs receive their budgets and their funds from the county each year after the allocation of the federal grant has been decided by the state and county. Meers personally knew he received some federal funding throughout his teaching years, but it was never clear to him how much.

According to Meers, "most bands these days have a band fee that they charge individual members [as a way of] fundraising, but ... have not relied very much on federal funding." Fees help augment the cost of food, T-shirts, music, and running the program, but they can also prevent students from being able to participate. According to T.C.A. §

49-2-114 and the SBE Rule 0520-01-03-.03(12) which define school fees, students cannot be charged for equipment required while taking courses required for graduation, activities during school hours, or for activities or supplies needed for school lessons that will be graded (Ballard 2019). Tenn. Code Ann. §49-2-114, defines school fees as "fees for activities and supplies required to participate in all courses offered for credit or grade" (Tennessee Education Code Title 49 2001). "So, if a student needs an instrument to participate in band class, then the school board may approve the request for fees for the rental but may not require that fee for any student" (Ballard 2019). Tenn. Code Ann. §49-2-114, parents who need help paying for school supplies, including instrument rentals for their children, may ask the school for assistance. In Williamson County, this is determined by whether a student is eligible for free or reduced meal benefits. If this is the case, "the Board of Education will not charge school fees for him/her to participate in activities and programs" and provide the supplies needed to participate (Knisely 2018). Many band programs aim to purchase the largest, most expensive instruments so as to take that burden off students.

There are, however, "things schools can charge for, no matter what income level the student," such as "activities that go on outside the school day, including sports events, optional trips, clubs and social events" (WBIR Staff 2010). Marching band, even if it is used to complete a physical education credit requirement, is a voluntary extracurricular activity and thus any fees associated with the marching band do not fall under Tennessee Code Ann. §49-2-110(c). If a student could not pay the \$250 fees at Brentwood High or Page High school, two competitive marching band programs in Nashville, they would not be able to participate without alternative funding (Knisely 2018).

Many programs, like the Riverdale High School Band of Murfreesboro, use their \$600 per member marching band fees to "support all marching and concert band activity including instruction, music, marching show drill design, uniform maintenance, transportation, licensing, competition fees, concert assessment costs, various meals provided to students, practice field maintenance, props for drill design, and field equipment" (Riverdale High School Band 2019).

Other programs use parent organizations or booster clubs which raise money on the band's behalf, as was the case for Meers who said this is where the primary source of his funding came from. Bands partner with businesses across Middle Tennessee to put on raffles, distribute American flags, sell products, and earn reward points to benefit the band. Band parents and students organize car washes, bake sales, donation drives, and other events to raise money for their programs.

In Meers' opinion, it is general and elementary music education that benefits the most from federal funds and would therefore be most impacted by changes in federal policy regarding music education (Meers 2020). In an interview with Madison Creek Elementary School Teacher Tiffany Barton, however, she revealed that she receives exactly \$100 from the Parent Teacher Organization and \$100 from the Basic Education Program, a state funding formula to allocate educational dollars, each year. As Barton told me, "That barely buys a glockenspiel".

The Arts in Education program under the national Department of Education is currently funded at \$29 million, but the reality is our teachers are not seeing the benefits of this funding reaching their programs (Music Education News 2019). On a state level, advocates and educators experience the constant need to defend the right of students to

engage in music education and to raise funds independent of the insufficient support provided by their districts.

### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

#### Trends on the National Scale

From Lowell Mason's addition of music education to the public-school curriculum in 1832, music has continuously shaped the lives of millions of Americans. "More Americans are enjoying the benefits of playing music than ever before," said Joe Lamond, president and CEO of NAMM, in 2003. This is confirmed by the Gallup Poll conducted the same year that revealed 54 percent of all households surveyed had a member who plays a musical instrument, the highest level since 1978. The Gallup Organization and NAMM (2003) also found that "in 48 percent of households, where at least one person played an instrument, there were two or more additional members who also played an instrument, according to the survey." The evolution of music education since the late 19<sup>th</sup> century has been a long and continuous process, with the Space Race era playing a pivotal role in contributing to the challenges music educators still face today and bringing about major educational reforms, including the beginnings of federal intervention in public-school education with the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965. ESEA reinforced the notion, adopted by Space Race era politics, of using music to reinforce material used for other subjects. Funds were provided to what directly impacted academic achievement based on the state academic standards, while music education was labeled as aesthetic education. For educators who had no place in standardized testing until 1997, this left a need to justify music education as a valid and intrinsic part of a child's development.

The United States government contributed to the development of the MENC National Standards for Music Education (1997) and later the Core Music Standards

(2014), which provided guidelines for what students should be accomplishing at various levels. The *National Standards for Music Education* focused upon demonstrated skills and knowledge and, while useful, were not comprehensive or reflective enough to impact the music education classroom significantly. The *Core Music Standards* placed conceptual understanding and musical literacy in the forefront and developed more standards for secondary school ensembles including band programs. Both sets of standards work as benchmarks and tools for individual school communities to build their own curriculums and were never implemented as a binding way to evaluate student or teacher performances.

The difficulties of imposing national musical curriculums, as one would for tested subjects such as maths or the sciences, are numerous. Even to say that a high school band consisting of eleventh and twelfth grade students needs to be able to play-a piece of at least grade four difficulty would be a disservice to many programs. The resources of individual schools, including the ability to provide repertoire, instruments, and adequate rehearsal space/time, the varying instrumentation and size of band programs, and the individual skill and interest level of both students and teachers, all inhibit a true standardization of music education.

The No Child Left Behind Act of 2002, as previously discussed, focused on datadriven results and increased graduation requirements in subject areas other than the arts. The vague definition of the arts in the law itself made it so that funds were often allocated elsewhere, creating misconceptions and vague policy in funding for music programs.

Under Race to the Top (2008), federal funds were allocated to individual states in a competitive grant program that encouraged states to begin to adopt the changes under

the Every Student Succeeds Act. The goals of these state educational reforms, as stated in RTTT, included the adoption of standards and assessments to prepare students for universities and the workplace, as well as data systems to monitor student growth and success. The inherent difficulties in creating such standards and assessments for music education once again plagued the field. The development and rewarding of teachers who contributed to student achievement was also defined as a goal under RTTT, but music educators, who had no standardized way to show student achievement nor an accurate way to evaluate themselves as teachers, were left scrambling to find ways to prove the worth of the subject and themselves as valued teaches.

In Tennessee, the use of the TVAAS system, still used in some counties today, gave music educators the choice to appropriate scores from the English and mathematics departments in their own evaluation. Of the six educational priorities outlined in RTTT, none mention the fine arts. In 2011, President Obama called this quintessential time in our history as the nation's next Sputnik moment. For music educators especially, this was true but did not inspire confidence.

The greatest triumph for music educators over the past few decades came when President Obama signed the Every Student Succeeds Act into law in 2015. The change in legislative wording from "core academic subjects" to "a well-rounded education," as well as more specific wording to the definition of fine arts than found in NCLB, placed music education under federal protection for the first time in federal history and helped establish arts education as a right to all students as perpetuated by arts advocates since 1950. This has prevented funds from being directed away from music to programs such as computer design and other elective courses that used to be defined as art courses to qualify for such

funding. The law also included wording to discourage the removal of students from the fine arts for remedial instruction in other areas as seen under ESEA and NCLB.

This legislative change followed decades of lobbying and music education advocacy but also reflects the shifts in educational planning trends and in society moving away from discipline-based education towards a new emphasis on critical thinking and the desire for well-rounded students. Since the 1960s, music education seemed on the verge of disappearing from school curriculums nationwide. Now, with wording in federal legislation, the institution of music education is, by law, protected by the government.

ESSA still requires evaluation systems from school districts but allows more flexibility on what that looks like, especially for non-tested subjects such as music.

Teachers are no longer required on a federal level to tie their success to how students perform on individual assessments, although the practice did continue on a local level.

Despite the benefits gleaned from ESSA, the law left many music educators disillusioned upon its implementation. The Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants authorized by ESSA were severely underfunded, with only 24 percent of the proposed 2017 budget actually awarded by Congress. Tennessee emulated the changes in legislative wording to "well-rounded education," but chose not to include music in any of its programs destined to receive ESSA funding.

In the past four years, President Trump has made his stance towards the arts extremely clear. In 2018, when he proposed that no funds be allocated towards SSAE grants, which was overruled by Congress who offered a \$500 million counterproposal and eventually awarded \$1.1 billion due to public outcry and the contributions of advocacy agencies. In the same budget proposal, Trump allocated no funds towards the

National Endowment for the Arts. The President proposed the elimination of the NEA and its sister organization, the NEH, in his budget proposals for the fiscal years 2019-2021.

President Trump's appointment of Mary Anne Carter, a republican public-affair consultant, as chairwoman of the NEA also give music education advocates pause. In her own statement regarding her love for the arts, Carter states that her daughter's experience of using the arts as a teaching method in other subjects to overcome dyslexia is the primary reason, she decided to involve herself in the arts. While the incorporation of the arts as a teaching tool is not inherently negative and can be extremely beneficial to a child's development, such an assertion harkens the return of identifying the value of music education by skills that enhance traditional academic subjects, not for the sake of the art form. This combined with the current administration's visceral opposition to federal funding for the arts has alerted music educators to concerns on a national level.

## The Impact of Advocacy Organizations

Advocacy groups have worked on both the national and state levels to mitigate the challenges and threats facing music education since the early 20<sup>th</sup> century. They have long led the field in understanding and adapting to changes in legislation, defending programs at every level, and promoting a child's right to fully participate in music and reap the benefits it can instill. On a national level, advocacy agencies such as NAfME have created voluntary standards and assessments in the absence and impracticality of a strict nationwide curriculum. On the federal as well as state levels, they work to help legislative policy makers understand the impact they will have on music education.

In Tennessee, TMEA funds, hosts, and organizes all-state ensembles and works to limit systematic regional equity discrepancies. TMEA also promotes the professional development of music educators though the annual state-wide conference. In 2019 TMEA president Lafe Cook initiated a program that would waive dues and conference registration fees for rural and underdeveloped programs where a teacher had no funds to attend (TMEA 2020). Music educators and advocates have represented TMEA at NAfME's annual Hill Day since 2017, participating in lobbying for music education in federal policy (Dye 2017c). TMEA hosted its first Tennessee Hill Day for Music Education Advocacy in 2017 to introduce members of Congress to TMEA as an advocacy group for music education, seek the re-establishment of the Director of Arts Education position under the state Department of Education to help implement the new music standards in 2018, and advocate for the protection of instructional time, access to music instruction, and the need for qualified, licensed teachers (Dye 2017d).

## **Evaluation Systems**

Teacher and student evaluations play a significant role in the sphere of administrative and legislative decision making. On a daily basis, music educators are able to evaluate their students' practical and applied knowledge in a more immediate and complete fashion than educators in any other field. Directors can immediately assess a student's ability to comprehend instruction, if they know the rhythm and the fingerings, and if they are listening to the others around them. "There's an interaction there, but it's not a student asking questions or a teacher lecturing," Ron Meers told me during our

interview. He continued, "The interaction process is so far above what you get in any other classroom. You're evaluating them constantly in class—the sharps, the balance—you're evaluating students, you know in real time what they're understanding and what they're not." Meers' statement reflects the qualities of the music classroom experience, which is difficult to quantify.

Through my research, I discovered first-hand the various difficulties involved in developing and implementing national or even statewide assessments with which to evaluate music students. Both the National Center for Education Statistic's National Assessment of Arts in Music (1997) and the Model Cornerstone Assessments (2014) were developed to evaluate student achievement according to the national standards associated therewith. On a state level, the Tennessee Arts Commission developed the Tennessee Academic Standards for the Arts. Considerations had to be made in the development of each assessment model to accommodate ensemble instrumentation, size, musical ability, experience level, and resources. The diverse responses to the creating and performing portions present in both assessments was a demonstration of the inherent difficulties of interpreting musical expression and effort. A teacher's ability to perform these assessments on each individual student also presents a challenge as music educators are usually responsible for dozens of students a year and time-consuming assessments and evaluations place a tremendous burden on teachers.

While the child must do his/her part in making use of the opportunities presented to them, Glenn (1992) notes:

Their approach is greatly influenced by the teacher's attainments and attitudes. If the teacher is deeply and sensitively musical, follows high ideals in the practice of music, and views music as a ministration, the child is much more inclined to apply him[/her]self to the study of music, and thus come into his[/her] desired

heritage. More and more the teacher must present musical material which, by its depth, intensity, and elevation, and its revelation of a buoyant spirit, shall produce significant, affective reactions in our young people. (Glenn 1992)

Music teachers have the opportunity to inspire a lifelong love of music, but a sub-par educator also has the potential of impacting a child's experience in a negative way as well and therefore must be held accountable to school, local, state, and federal standards.

The problem comes "when you're trying to evaluate a music educator based on a history classroom. It just doesn't make sense and it isn't fair!" as Ron Meers explained. Standards for the evaluation of music educators has been discussed on a national scale as well as in Tennessee specifically, but there is currently no standardized or even a widely accepted evaluation method on either level.

Each county uses its own teacher and student evaluation process, and most music educators are dissatisfied with the one they are using in some way. Ron Meers explained that during his time as a music educator he was evaluated using several different methods including through grade-level wide statistics which included students he had never taught, standardized test scores with no musical component, and the most recent portfolio method.

Under the portfolio method, teachers build a folder for each student they teach, how that student has improved throughout the year, and documentation of how the teacher impacted that student directly. The teacher's evaluation is then completed by a supervisor by reviewing the portfolios of the students. This method allows teachers to communicate what they are seeing from their students in a more meaningful way, but the work involved in compiling a profile for each student is enormous and has left music teachers using this method exhausted. Music educators are usually responsible for dozens

of students a year, and time-consuming assessments and evaluations such as these place a tremendous burden on teachers. The average amount of time a music educator in Tennessee remains a music teacher is five years, often because they feel overworked, underfunded, and under-appreciated by their administration (Meers 2020).

Music educators are most often evaluated by their direct superior, typically a principal. The fact that they are being evaluated by someone who does not know how to conduct, likely does not recognize when the ensemble is in tune and has never been a part of a music ensemble in and of itself undermines the purpose of a professional evaluation. In other academic classrooms, a principal can easily observe the teacher's adherence to curriculum, student reactions, the questions that stem from the lecture, and the way the teacher speaks with a student to understand the teacher's effectiveness. "The awareness of the existence of musicianship... depends to a large extent on the subjective opinion of the observer" (Beglarian 1968). If the principal cannot understand the students' responses communicating through music in the same way the instructor does, how can they accurately assess the director's effectiveness and ability?

#### Trends Evident in Middle Tennessee

In conducting the research to write my thesis, I discovered just how difficult it can be to trace where federal funds are spent, especially within music education. I set out to find a connection between the general attitudes towards music education in legislation and funding for schools in Middle Tennessee, hoping this would help me understand the direct impact legislative changes over the past ten years have had on communities in the region. Instead I discovered that, despite the millions of dollars spent annually by the US

Department of Education specifically for the advancement of the arts, most band directors do not know how much federal funding they receive and that these funds, if any, are not significant enough to offset the cost of a band program.

In Tennessee, many concert bands are funded by their athletic bands, booster and parent organizations, or independent fundraising. This is due to the inconsistent, and oftentimes inequitable, funding provided by the state. In doing so, band programs are able to finance their operation and comply with T.C.A. § 49-2-114 and the SBE Rule 0520-01-03-.03(12).

The rural nature of Tennessee also creates challenges for band directors. Metro Nashville Public Schools and other urban band programs have the obvious advantages of proximity to large cultural organizations, higher tax revenues which result in more funding for public schools, and the ability to incentivize teachers and donors more easily than rural schools. The Country Music Association Foundation, for instance, has invested a total of \$12.5 million into the Metro Nashville Public School system since 2006 (Country Music Association Foundation 2019). In the last three years, the Metropolitan Nashville School District provided music classes in every elementary school and hired at least one music teacher per school. They also offered band in every middle and high school throughout the district (Barack 2015). Nashville band programs have found significant support from community advocacy. For instance, the Metro Nashville Public Schools' Music Makes Us program which provides \$14 million to music programs in the district.

TMEA, along with the dance and arts education associations of Tennessee, have hired two arts advocacy lobbyists in the past year to represent the association and the

interest of music education on the state-wide level. "The problem has not been that legislatures want to hurt the arts, but they make laws that affect the arts in ways they did not anticipate," Ron Meers explained while describing the valuable work these attorneys provide TMEA. The attorneys write a weekly report summarizing any discussions in the Tennessee state government that may impact arts education and relay that information to the appropriate association.

The lobbyists were able to help prevent the adoption of a proposed additional history credit as a graduation requirement in 2018 that would have had detrimental consequences for student participation in music education in Tennessee. The proposed class, History of Tennessee, would have prevented students from taking four years of music education and require more resources from individual schools. Meers, who serves as Executive Director for TMEA, stated, "When you add a requirement that's not an elective, you knock [students] out of the arts because they can't get all their credits in and add the arts. They'll take two years of an arts class and have to drop out their junior or senior year to take this History of Tennessee, which is covered in state history classes during the eighth grade." Students in Tennessee are already tasked with completion of the recent computer competency credit for their graduation requirements and continue their involvement in the arts.

Meers went into detail about the process of preventing this curriculum change, telling me that TMEA was informed of the issue at 10am with the vote taking place the same day at 1:00 pm. TMEA sent emails to the 300 parent groups belonging to the organization's network. At 11:00 am, the response generated was so overwhelming that by noon that day TMEA was assured the vote would not pass. While this an example of

music education advocacy that most would call a rounding success, the fact remains that the arts seem to be only an afterthought for educational planning at the state level in Tennessee.

Although federal funds could not be directly traced to their impacts on individual band programs through Middle Tennessee, no matter the size, affluence, or seeming longevity of the program, bands in Middle Tennessee benefit from federal funds in a number of ways, the primary one being that "committing public money can inspire private groups to make donations" (Barack 2015). For instance, the Metro Nashville Public Schools' Music Makes Us Program augments the \$14 million the music program receives from the district with the approximately \$1.2 million in private funds it receives (Barack 2015). Avins (2017) states, "Even if its budget barely registers on the federal government's bottom line, it has had a tremendous impact on who has access to the arts in the US" and the proposed dismantlement of the National Endowment for the Arts would result in massive financial deficits for music programs across Tennessee (Avins 2017). Although private funds may continue to be donated, the attitude of the federal administration would be unlikely to encourage as many private donations as might otherwise have been possible. Avins (2017) continues, "The key point is that the impact of those grants goes far beyond the dollars' face value."

A grant from the National Endowment for the Arts not only makes it easier for organizations to raise money from other donors, "it also unlocks matching grants from local and state agencies" (Avins 2017). If the NEA were dismantled, its likely music education programs would struggle to receive grants from the county, district, and state levels. The NEA is involved in every county in America that has a high school, has

awarded grants in every Congressional district in all 50 states and US territories. This gives the NEA the ability to support the truly underserved communities in America such as the rural communities in Tennessee.

While the changes in legislative wording under ESSA is in a way the success music educators have been seeking since the 1960s, it is still obvious that music is not viewed as an essential and core piece of every child's education by the general American public.

#### Recommendations

"Music expresses that which cannot be said and on which it is impossible to be silent."

— Victor Hugo

"Music produces a kind of pleasure which human nature cannot do without."

— Confucius, Book of Rites

Legislators, on the national and state levels, need a stronger understanding of the obvious benefits that music education can provide to students. Policy makers who do not view the arts as rigorous academic subjects and continue to distinguish between aesthetic and academic education are adversely impacting the ability of students with interests in the arts from engaging in them fully. Legislators need to recognize that tested subjects are not the only ones worth teaching and make a concentrated effort to understand and assign value to the emotional and expressive components of the arts. It is my deepest

recommendation that the NEA be able to continue improving the lives of Americans and Tennesseans.

It is also my recommendation that representatives from the fine arts be directly involved in the design of educational policies rather than advocating for change retroactively. This could be achieved by filling the currently vacant position of Director of Arts Education under the Tennessee Arts Commission and then allowing this position to at least offer insight to the Tennessee Board of Education on new legislation if not fully participating in its forging.

As outlined in this work, advocacy agencies need to stay continually alert for legislation that might impact music education. Ron Meers referred to TMEA Advocacy and Government Relations Chair Christopher Dye as a "watch-dog" while describing Dye's contributions to TMEA efforts in the past. The use of this nickname in particular is indicative of the feeling commonly found amongst music educators and advocates, that policy makers do not understand the impact changes in legislation will have on music education and that swift action will be required at any given moment to correct it.

TMEA's decision to partner with other Tennessee fine arts education associations in hiring arts education policy lobbyists is one of the most strategic decisions the organization has made to date. Lobbyists allow TMEA to react swiftly and effectively to any legislation that may affect music education. However, TMEA needs to transition from being a primarily reactive organization to an actively involved one. I recommend that TMEA begin working with the Tennessee Arts Commission to build practical assessment models based on the *Tennessee Academic Standards for Fine Arts* written by TAC as well as to launch at least one other major, statewide project with TAC as the two

organizations have never partnered together to create lasting effects. I also recommend that Tennessee policy makers seek out the impact new legislation might have specifically for the arts by seeking out TMEA representatives as consultants or advisors.

TMEA consists almost entirely of volunteers working for no pay in addition to their full-time jobs with some expenditures reimbursed by the organization for occasions like participating in NAfME's Hill Day. Executive Director Ron Meers conducted our interview from his kitchen table which is where he performs nearly all of his duties for TMEA. The association's formal address is the home of one of its members as it does not have a designated office space. In comparison, the Texas Music Educators Association has an entire office building at its headquarters in Austin.

The best way to educate policy makers and the general voting population that elects them is through advocacy. I recommend either TAC or TBOE support the establishment of at least one TMEA headquarters office. This would allow both organizations easier access to information on how legislation will be received by TMEA and allow TMEA to be more immediately involved. I believe it would also allow more people to contact the association, more significant meetings to occur, and lend credibility to the organization.

In order to be a member of TMEA, one must be a member of a regional music educators association. To be a member of NAfME, one must be a member of the state music education association. While encouraging membership in as many music advocacy groups as possible seems like the obvious choice, many educators simply cannot afford or are uninterested in membership.

My final recommendation is for the field of music education as a whole to use the vast untapped resource of rising music educators still attending university. Music appreciation and service organizations are found across college campuses and are always looking for ways to help the community. Tennessee used collegiate programs to combat the difficulties of staffing rural schools in 1948 with great success and I believe it can and should be done again. While collegiate music education advocacy groups do currently exist, I recommend TMEA work with specific intent to expand on the incorporation of advocacy into the future music educator's curriculum, teaching them to understand the impact of recent legislation, the role of advocacy agencies, and involving them in advocacy throughout their university careers. It is my recommendation that future music educators be encouraged to volunteer their time to local band programs, music education associations, and advocacy associations throughout their four years. By encouraging activism and advocacy in our students and future educators, we will build a stronger understanding of music's impact for the general public that will one day permeate the law.

In his remarks at the Arts Education Partnership National Forum in April 2010, former Secretary of Education Arne Duncan said:

I believe that arts education can help build the case for the importance of a well-rounded, content-rich curriculum in at least three ways. First, the arts significantly boost student achievement, reduce discipline problems, and increase the odds that students will go on to graduate from college. Second, arts education is essential to stimulating the creativity and innovation that will prove critical to young Americans competing in a global economy. And last, but not least, the arts are valuable for their own sake, and they empower students to create and appreciate aesthetic works.

I have long admired the art of music, its performance, and the aesthetic qualities it can project to others. I truly believe that any student who wants to involve themselves in

music should have a right to do so. It is my hope that music education will be universally viewed as vital to a child's development by those determining state and federal policy.

At the time of this writing, the nation's educational system is in hiatus as inperson teaching has been paused in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, and expectations
for standardized testing have been completely removed. Currently, Americans are relying
on the arts more than ever. Despite isolation and social distancing, people are still seeking
the arts, and performances are flooding social media. In the absence of traditional
schooling, standardized testing, and social interaction, learning opportunities have taken
new digital forms, and people continue to seek the social and emotional impact of music.
People are craving the experience of sharing music with one another and are using
modern technology to recreate that experience, from international charity concerts such
as the 'One World: Together at Home' Concert to individual band students performing
live-stream concerts. In my opinion, this provides an excellent opportunity for reflection
on the value and inclusion of the arts, which continue to inspire and unite us in this time
of crisis.

# The Child's Bill of Rights in Music

Published by the Music Educators National Conference Vol.XXXVI April-May 1950 Resolutions adopted by the Music Educators National Conference at its Biennial Convention, St. Louis, Missouri, March 1950. Prepared by the Council of Past Presidents.

#### **Prelude**

Since our preceding biennial meeting the General Assembly of the United Nations has adopted its memorable Bill of Rights. This maintains that "the recognition of the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of freedom, justice, and peace in the world."

Article XXVI asserts "Everyone has the right to education which shall be directed to the full development of human personality and to the strengthening of respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms."

Article XXVII adds, "Everyone has the right freely to participate in the cultural life of the community to enjoy the arts, and to share in scientific advancement and its benefits."

It is evident that these and other sections of the preamble and thirty articles of the United Nations' Declaration of Human Rights have important implications for educators throughout the world. The Music Educators National Conference submits some amplification of certain aspects of the Bill of Rights as applied to the field of music education.

# The Child's Bill of Rights in Music

- I. Every child has the right to full and free opportunity to explore and develop his capacities in the field of music in such ways as may bring him happiness and a sense of well-being; stimulate his imagination and stir his creative activities; and make him so responsive that he will cherish and seek to renew the fine feelings induced by music.
- II. As his right, every child shall have the opportunity to experience music with other people so that his own enjoyment shall be heightened, and he shall be led into greater appreciation of the feelings and aspirations of others.
- III. As his right, every child shall have the opportunity to make music through being guided and instructed in singing, in playing at least one instrument both alone and with others, and, so far as his powers and interest permit, in composing music.
- **IV.** As his right, every child shall have opportunity to grow in musical appreciation, knowledge, and skill, through instruction equal to that given in any other subject in all the free public educational programs that may be offered to children and youths.
- V. As his right, every child shall be given the opportunity to have his interest and power in music explored and developed to the end that unusual talent may be utilized for the enrichment of the individual and society.
- VI. Every child has the right to such teaching as will sensitize, refine, elevate, and enlarge not only his appreciation of music, but also his whole affective nature, to the end that the high part such developed feeling may play in raising the statue of mankind may be revealed to him.

## **Postlude**

A philosophy of the arts is mainly concerned with a set of values different from the material ones that rightly have a large place in a philosophy of general education.

Although current general educational concepts are often strongly materialistic, they are frequently given authority in moral and aesthetic fields in which they are applicable.

Since moral, aesthetic, and material interests co-exist in life and are not mutually exclusive, those who would promote the arts, including music, should become acquainted

with and should advocate a philosophy which affirms that moral and aesthetic elements are equally with physical elements part of the whole reality.

The music teacher is, to a large extent, responsible for the implementation of the opportunities listed in our six articles. While the child must do his part in making use of them, his approach is greatly influenced by the teacher's attainments and attitudes. If the teacher is deeply and sensitively musical, follows high ideals in the practice of music, and views music as a ministration, the child is much more inclined to apply himself to the study of music, and thus come into his desired heritage. More and more the teacher must present musical material which, by its depth, intensity, and elevation, and its revelation of a buoyant spirit, shall produce significant, affective reactions in our young people.

# The Child's Bill of Rights in Music

Published by the Music Educators National Conference Vol. LXXVIII April-May 1991

- I. As their right, all children at every level must have access to a balanced, comprehensive, and sequential program of music instruction in school taught by teachers qualified in music.
- II. As their right, all children must be given the opportunity to explore and develop their musical abilities to the fullest extent possible through instruction that is equal to that provided in the other basic subjects of the curriculum and is responsive to the individual needs of each child.
- III. As their right, all children must receive the finest possible education in music, every child must have an equal opportunity to study music, and the quality and quantity of children's music instruction must not depend upon their geographical location, social status, racial or ethnic status, urban/suburban/rural residence, or parental or community wealth.
- **IV.** As their right, all children must receive extensive opportunities to sing, play at least one instrument, compose, improvise, and listen to music.
- V. As their right, all children must have the opportunity to study music of diverse periods, styles, forms, and cultures, including samples of the various musics of the world and music that reflects the multi-musical nature of our pluralistic American culture.
- VI. As their right, all children must have the opportunity to develop their abilities to analyze music with discrimination, to understand the historical and cultural backgrounds of the music they encounter, to make relevant critical judgments about music and performances, and to deal with aesthetic issues relevant to music.
- VII. As their right, all children must have the opportunity to grow in music knowledge, skills, and appreciation so as to bring joy and satisfaction to their lives, challenge their minds, stimulate their imaginations, and exalt their spirits.

# Music Assessment Framework devised by the NAES 1997

	Proce	esses			
Creating	Perform	нінд	Responding		
When improvising, composing, or arranging music, students:  apply historical, cultural, and aesthetic understanding by creating stylistically appropriate alterations, variations, and improvisations;  use standard and/or non-standard notation to express original ideas;  evaluate, refine, and revise successive versions of original work;  demonstrate skill and expressiveness in the choice and use of musical elements; and  present the created work for others.	When singing or playing music with musical instruments, students:  select appropriate repertoire; apply skill by performing with technical accuracy; read musical notation accurately; evaluate, refine, and revise the performance; develop an appropriate and expressive interpretation by applying understanding of structure and cultural and historical contexts of music; and present the performance for others.		When perceiving, analyzing, interpreting critiquing, and judging music, students  select repertoire for listening;  analyze the elements and structure of music;  compare and contrast various musical styles;  identify formal and expressive qualities that distinguish a particular style of music;  place music within its cultural and historical context;  make critical judgments about technica and expressive qualities of musical performance and compositions; and  use movement or words to interpret and describe personal responses to music.		
	Con	tent			
Knowledge		Skills			
Applying knowledge of:  Context  personal social cultural historical  Aesthetics  Form and structure  Processes		Applying cognitive, affective, and motor skills, including: Perceptual Intellectual/Reflective Expressive Technical			

# Core Music Standards for Ensembles 2014

			CREATING			
		General	Imagine le musical ideas for various purposes and conf	exts		
I	Enduring Understanding: The creative ide sources.	eas, concepts, and feelings that influence mus	sicians' work emerge from a variety of	Essential Question: How do musicians ge	nerate creative ideas?	
t	Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced	
	MUCT.1.E.Sa Compose and improvise models and rhythmic ideas or meditive that reflect characteristic(s) of music or text(s) studied in rehearsal.	MU-Cri.1.E.8a Compose and improvise ideas for medicial and hythmic bassages based on characteristic(s) of music or text(s) studied in rehearsal.	NU-Cri.1.E.La Compose and Improvise tobes for melodies for melodies for melodies with mine passages, and arrangements for specific purposes that reflect characteristics) of music from a variety of historical periods studied in rehearsal.  Plan and Make	MU-Cr1.LE.la Compose and improvise tidea for arrangements sections and short compositions for specific purposes that reflect characteristics) of muse from a variety of cultures studied in rehearsal.	MU.Or.1.E.IIIa Compose and improvis musical ideas for a variety of purposes and contexts.	
T	Enduring Understanding: Musicians' crea	Select and de tive choices are influenced by their expertise,	evelop musical ideas for defined purposes and context, and expressive intent.	contexts.  Essential Question: How do musicians ma	ake creative decisions?	
†	Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced	
	MU:Cr2.1.E.5a Select and develop draft melodic and rhythmic ideas or motives that demonstrate understanding of characteristic(s) of music or text(s) studied in rehearsal.	MU:Cr2.1.E.8a Select and develop draft melodies and rhythmic passages that demonstrate understanding of characteristic(s) of music or text(s) studied in rehearsal.	MU:Cr2.1.E.Ja Select and develop draft melodies, rhythmic passages, and arrangements for specific purposes that demonstrate understanding of characteristic(s) of music from a variety of historical periods studied in rehearsal.	MU:Cr2.1.E.IIa Select and develop arrangements, sections, and short compositions for specific purposes that demonstrate understanding of characteristic(s) of music from a variety of cultures studied in rehearsal.	MU:Cr2.1.E.Illa Select and develop composed and improvised ideas into dra musical works organized for a variety opurposes and contexts.	
SIIIIO	MU:Cr2.1.E.5b Preserve draft compositions and improvisations through standard notation and audio recording.	MU:Cr2.1.E.8b Preserve draft compositions and improvisations through standard notation and audio recording.	MU:Cr2.1.E.la Preserve draft compositions and improvisations through standard notation and audio recording.	MU:Cr2.1.E.lla Preserve draft compositions and improvisations through standard notation, audio, or video recording.	MU:Cr2.1.E.Illa Preserve draft musical works through standard notation, audio or video recording.	

Page 1 of 8

2014	Music	Standards	(Ensemble	١

	Evaluate and refine selecte	Evaluate and Refine ad musical ideas to create musical work that m	eets appropriate criteria.	
Enduring Understanding: Musicians eval of appropriate criteria.	luate and refine their work through openness t	Essential Question: How do musicians im	prove the quality of their creative work?	
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced
MU:Cr3.1.E.5a Evaluate and refine draft compositions and improvisations based on knowledge, skill, and teacher-provided criteria.	MU:Cr3.1.E.8a Evaluate and refine draft compositions and improvisations based on knowledge, skill, and collaboratively-developed criteria.	MU:Cr3.1.E.Ia Evaluate and refine draft melodies, rhythmic passages, arrangements, and improvisations based on established criteria, including the extent to which they address identified purposes.	MU:Cr3.1.E.IIa Evaluate and refine draft arrangements, sections, short compositions, and improvisations based on personally-developed criteria, including the extent to which they address identified purposes.	MU:Cr3.1.E.Ilia Evaluate and refine varied draft musical works based on appropriate criteria, including the extent to which they address identified purpose and contexts.
Present Share creative musical work that conveys intent, demonstrates craftsmanship, and exhibits originality.  Enduring Understanding: Musicians' presentation of creative work is the culmination of a crocess of creation and communication.  Essential Question: When is creative work ready to share?				
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced
MU:Cr3.2.E.5a Share personally- developed melodic and rhythmic ideas or motives – individually or as an ensemble – that demonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or texts studied in rehearsal.	MU:Cr3.2.E.8a Share personally- developed melodies and rhythmic passages – individually or as an ensemble – that demonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or texts studied in rehearsal	MU:Cr3.2.E.Ia Share personally- developed melodies, rhythmic passages, and arrangements – individually or as an ensemble – that address identified purposes.	MU:Cr3.2.E.Ila Share personally- developed arrangements, sections, and short compositions – individually or as an ensemble – that address identified purposes.	MU:Cr3.2.E.Illa Share varied, personally developed musical works – individually or as an ensemble – that address identified purposes and contexts.

#### 2014 Music Standards (Ensemble)

		PERFORMING				
	Select varied musical wor	Select ks to present based on interest, knowled	ige, tech	nnical skill, and context.		
Enduring Understanding: Performers' interest the context for a performance influence the sele		inding of their own technical skill, and	Essenti	ial Question: How do performers select repertor	nire?	
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient		Accomplished	Advanced	
study based on interest, music reading skills (where appropriate), an understanding of the <b>structure</b> of the music, <b>context</b> , and the	MU.P.4.1.E.8a Select a varied repertoire to study based on music reading skills (where appropriate), an understanding of formal design in the music, context, and the technical skill of the individual and ensemble.	MU:PA1.E.la Explain the criteria uselect a varied repertoire to study ba an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics of the music technical skill of the individual or ensemble, and the purpose or conte	sed on	INU.PA.1.E.IIa Develop and apply criteria to select a varied repertoire to study and perform based on an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics and expressive challenges in the music, the technical skill of the individual or ensemble, and the purpose and context of the performance.	MUPH4.1.E.IIIa Develop and apply criter to select varied programs to study and perform based on an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics and expressive challenges in the music, the technical skill of the individual or ensemble, and the purpose and context the performance.	
·		Analyze				
Analyze the structure and context of varied musical works and their implications for performance.						
Enduring Understanding: Analyzing creators' context and how they manipulate elements of music provides insight into their into and informs performance.				ntial Question: How does understanding the s rmance?	tructure and context of musical works inform	
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient		Accomplished	Advanced	
reading skills where appropriate, how knowledge of formal aspects in musical works inform prepared or improvised performances.	MU:Pr42.E.5a Demonstrate, using music reading skills where appropriate, how the setting and formal characteristics of musical works contribute to understanding the context of the music in prepared or improvised performances.	MU:Pr4.2.E.la Demonstrate, using m reading skills where appropriate, how compositional devices employed an theoretical and structural aspects of musical works impact and inform pre or improvised performances.	d	MU:Pr4.2.E.lla Document and demonstrate, using music reading skills where appropriate, how compositional devices employed and theoretical and structural aspects of musical works may impact and inform prepared and improvised performances.	MU:Pr4.2.E.IIIa Examine, evaluate, and critique, using music reading skills where appropriate, how the structure and context impact and inform prepared and improvised performances.	
Interpret Develop personal interpretations that consider creators' intent.						
Enduring Understanding: Performers make interpretive decisions based on their understanding of context and expressive intent. Essential Question: How do performers interpret musical works?						
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient		Accomplished	Advanced	
	MU:Pr4.3.E.8a Demonstrate understanding and application of expressive qualities in a varied repertoire of music through prepared and improvised performances.	MU:Pr4.3.E.Ia Demonstrate an understanding of context in a varied repertoire of music through prepared improvised performances.	and	MU:Pr4.3.E.IIa Demonstrate how understanding the style; genre, and context of a varied repertoire of music influences prepared and improvised performances as well as performers' technical skill to connect with the audience	MU:Pr4.3.E.IIIa Demonstrate how understanding the style, genre, and context of a varied repertoire of music informs prepared and improvised performances as well as performers' technical skill to connect with the audience	

Page 3 of 8

		Evaluate and refine person	Rehearse, Evaluate and Refi nal and ensemble performances, individua		ollaboration with others.	
	Enduring Understanding: To express their through openness to new ideas, persistence,	musical ideas, musicians analyze, evaluate, ar and the application of appropriate criteria.	d refine their performance over time	Essentia	al Question: How do musicians improve the o	quality of their performance?
П	Novice	Intermediate	Proficient		Accomplished	Advanced
Common Anchor #5	MU:Pf.3.E.5a Use self-reflection and peer feedback to <b>refine</b> individual and <b>ensemble performances</b> of a varied <b>repertoire</b> of music.	MU:Pf3.E.8a Develop strategies to address technical challenges in a varied repertoire of music and evaluate their success using feedback from ensemble peers and other sources to refine performances.	MU:Pr5.3.E.la Develop strategies to address expressive challenges in a va repertoire of music, and evaluate thei success using feedback from ensemb peers and other sources to refine performances.	ried a ir ii ole v	MU:Pr5.3.E.IIa Develop and apply appropriate rehearsal strategies to address individual and ensemble challenges in a varied repertoire of music, and evaluate their success.	MU:Pr5.3.E.IIIa Develop, apply, and refin appropriate rehearsal strategies to address individual and ensemble challenges in a varied repertoire of music.
					appropriate to the audience and context.	
	The context and how a work is presented influ		Н	ssential Q	Question: When is a performance judged rear ntext and the manner in which musical work is	presented influence audience response?
mon Anchor #6	The context and how a work is presented infliction. Novice  MU:Pr6.1.E.5a Demonstrate attention to technical accuracy and expressive qualities in prepared and improvised performances of a varied repertoire of music.			to Market of particular of par	Question: When is a performance judged read	

2014 Music Standards (Ensemble)

	Evaluate Support personal evaluation of musical works and performance(s) based on analysis, interpretation, and established criteria.						
Enduring Understanding: The personal evaluation of musical work(s) and performance(s) is informed by analysis, inferpretation, and established oriteria.  Essential Question: How do we judge the quality of musical work(s) and performance(s)?							
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced			
MURRe9.1.E.5a identify and describe the effect of interest, experience, analysis, and context on the evaluation of music.	MU.ReJ.LESa Explain the influence of experiences, analysis, and context on interest in and evaluation of music.	MU.Re3.1.E la Evaluate works and performances based on personally- or collaboratively-developed criteria, including analysis of the structure and context.	MU:Re31.Ella Evaluate works and performances based on research as well as personally-and collaboratively- developed criteria, including analysis and interpretation of the structure and context	MU Re9.1.E.IIIa Develop and justify evaluations of music, programs of music, and performances based on criteria, personal decision-making, research, and understanding of contexts.			

Page 6 of 8

#### 2014 Music Standards (Ensemble)

			RESPONDING					
		Choose	Select music appropriate for specific purposes and cor	ntexts.				
	Enduring Understanding: Individuals' selection of musical works is influenced by their interests, experiences, understandings, and purposes.  Essential Question: How do individuals choose music to experience?							
Novice Intermedate Proficient Accomplished Advanced								
	MU:Re7.1.E.5a Identify reasons for selecting music based on characteristics found in the music connection to interest, and purpose or context	MU:Re7.1.E.8a Explain reasons for selecting music citing characteristics found in the music and <b>connections</b> to interest, <b>purpose</b> , and <b>context</b>	MU:Re7.1.E.la Apply criteria to select music for specified purposes, supporting choices by citing characteristics found in the music and connections to interest, purpose, and context.	MU:Re7.1.E.IIa Apply criteria to select music for a variety of purposes, justifying choices clinig knowledge of the music and the specified purpose and context.	MU:Re7.1.E.Illa Use research and personally-developed criteria to justify choices made when selecting music, citing knowledge of the music, and individual and ensemble purpose and context			
	Enduring Understanding: Response to mus	Analyze how the	Analyze structure and context of varied musical works in	form the response.				
	Enduring Understanding: Response to music is informed by analyzing context (social cultural, and historical) and how creators and efformers manipulate the elements of music.  Essential Question: How does understanding the structure and context of the music influence a response?							
	Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced			
	MU:Re7.2.E.5a Identify how knowledge of context and the use of repetition, similarities, and contrasts inform the response to music.	MU:Re7.2.E.8a Describe how understanding context and the way the elements of music are manipulated inform the response to music.	MU:Re7.2.E.la Explain how the analysis of passages and understanding the way the elements of music are manipulated inform the response to music.	MU:Re7.2.E.IIa Explain how the analysis of structures and contexts inform the response to music.	MU:Re7.2.E.Illa Demonstrate and justify how the analysis of structures, contexts and performance decisions inform the response to music.			
		Support an interpretation of	Interpret of a musical work that reflects the creators/perfo	rmers' expressive intent.				
	Enduring Understanding: Through their use of expressive intent.	elements and structures of music, creators and		sential Question: How do we discern the muse ent?	ical creators' and performers' expressive			
	Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced			
0000	MU:Re8.1.E.5a Identify interpretations of the expressive intent and meaning of musical works, referring to the elements of music, contexts, and (when appropriate) the setting of the text.	MU:Re8.1.E.8a Identify and support interpretations of the expressive intent and meaning of musical works, citing as evidence the treatment of the elements of music, contexts, and (when appropriate) the setting of the text.	MU:Re8.1.E.la Explain and support interpretations of the expressive intent and meaning of musical works, citing as evidence the treatment of the elements of music, contexts, (when appropriate) the setting of the text, and personal research.	MU:Re8.1.E.IIa Support interpretations of the expressive intent and meaning of musical works citing as evidence the treatment of the elements of music, contexts, (when appropriate) the setting of the text, and varied researched sources.	MU:Re8.1.E.Illa Justify interpretations of the expressive intent and meaning of musical works by comparing and synthesizing varied researched sources, including reference to other art forms.			

Page 5 of 8

2014 Music Standards (Ensemble)

# CONNECTING Connect #10 Synthesize and relate knowledge and personal experiences to make music. Enduring Understanding: Musicians connect their personal interests, experiences, ideas, and knowledge to Fsential Question: How do musicians Essential Question: How do musicians make meaningful connections to creating, performing, and responding? creating, performing, and responding. Novice MU:Cn10.0.H.5a Demonstrate how interests, knowledge, and skills relate to personal choices and intent when creating, Intermediate MU:Cn10.0.H.8a Demonstrate how interests, knowledge, and skills relate to personal choices and intent when creating, Proficient MU:Cn10.0.H.Ja Demonstrate how interests, knowledge, and skills relate to personal choices and intent when creating, Accomplished MU:Cn10.0.H.IIa Demonstrate how interests, knowledge, and skills relate to personal choices and intent when creating, Advanced MU:Cn10.0.H.Illa Demonstrate how interests, knowledge, and skills relate to personal choices and intent when creating, personal choices and infent when or eating, performing, and responding to music: MUC3.2.5.3 Share personally-developed melodic and hybrinic ideas or motives—individually or as an ensemble—th addemonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or todas studied in reheastal. MUCF4.1.5.3 Select varior aprecipitor to study based on interest, music reading skills (where appropriate), an understanding of the structure of the music, context, and the technical skills of the individual or ensemble. personal choices and intent when creating, performing, and responding to music. MU-Ch 2.E. Lila Share varied, personally-developed musical works — individually or as an ensemble—that address identified purposes and contexts. MU-Ph 1.E. Lila Develop and apply-criteria to select varied programs to study and perform based on an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics and expressive challenges in the music, the technical skills of the individual or ensemble, and the purpose and context of the performance. per sortial childres and filterit when cheating performing, and responding to music. MU:Cr3.2.E.8a Share personally-developed melodies and rhythmic passages — individually or as an ensemble — that demonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or texts studied in whethered. personal disclose and intent when deal performing, and responding to music. MU:Cr3.2.E.la Share personally-developed melodies, rhythmic passages, and arrangeme - individually or as an ensemble - that address personal ratioses and miner when design performing, and responding to music. MU:Cr3.2.E.lla Share personally-developed arrangements, sections, and short composition individually or as an ensemble – that address - individually or as an ensemble - that address identified purposes. MU.PA-1.E.la Expisit the criteria used to select a varied respection to study based on an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics of the music, the technical skills of the individual or ensemble, and tho purpose or contest of the performance. MU.PA-3.E.la Demonstrata an understanding of contest on the yard repetitive of music through prepared and improvised performances. MU.PA-4.E.la Apply criteria to select music for specified purposes, supporting choices by citing characteristics found in the music and connections to interest, purpose, and context. - Individually or as an ensemble - mat address identified purposes. MU-SPA-1.E.IIa Develop and apply criteria to select a varied reperforire to study and perform based on an understanding of theoretical and structural characteristics and expressive challenges in the music, the technical skills of the individual or ensemble, and the purpose and context of the performance. rehearsal. MU:Pr4.2.E.5a Soloct a varied repertoire to study based on music reading skills (where appropriate), an understanding of formal design in the music, context, and the technical skills of the individual individual or resemble. Propressive qualities in a modification of manufacture of music that can be demonstrated through prepared and improvised performances. MU-Re7.1E.5a identify reasons for selecting music based on characteristics found in the music, connection to interest, and purpose or context. Conect, and one shall control and ensemble. MU:Ph.1.E.S. Demonstrate understanding and application of expressive qualifies in a varied reperfoire of music through propared and improvised performances. MU:Re7.1.E.Ba Explair reasons for selecting music children characteristic shund in the music and connections to interest, purpose, and context. performance. MU-PA-3.E.III.a Demonstrate how understanding the style, gene, and context of a varied repertoire of music informs prepared and improvised performances as well as performers "bednical skill to connect with the audience. MU-R-2.1.E.IIII.a Use research and personally-developed criteria to justify choices made when selecting music, climpt knowledge of the music, and individual and ensemble purpose and context. ensemble, and the purpose and context of the performance. MU.PH.A. E.II.a. Demonstrate how understanding the style, gener, and context of a varied repertoire of music influences prepared and improvised performances a uselfa serformers (technical skill to connect with the audience. MU.Re7. I.E.II.a. Poly criteria to select music for a variety of purposes, justifying choices citing knowledge of the music and the specified purpose and context.

Page 7 of 8

2014	Maraia	Standards	/ Engamble
2014	Music	Standards	(Ensemble

	Relate musical i	Connect #11 deas and works with varied context to deepen	understanding.	
induring Understanding: Understanding conne reating, performing, and responding.	ections to varied contexts and daily life enhan-	ces musicians' Essential Question: H and responding to mus	low do the other arts, other disciplines, context ic?	ts and daily life inform creating, performing,
Novice	Intermediate	Proficient	Accomplished	Advanced
MU:Cn11.0.T.5a Demonstrate understanding of relationships between music and the other arts, other disciplines, varied contexts, and daily life. MU:Cn1.E3a. Compase and improvise melodic and rightmic ideas or motives that refect characteristics of music or testify sludied in rehearsal. MU:Cn2.E3a Share personally-developed melodic and highmic ideas or motives – individually or as an ensemble – bit demonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or locks duided in rehearsal. Most context of the music through a materies and the context of the music through a materies and improvised performances and the MU:Re3.E3a identify and describe the effect of interest, experience, analysis, and context on the ovaluation of music.	MU:Cn11.0.T.8a Demonstrate understanding of relationships between music and the other arts, other disciplines, varied contexts, and daily life.  MU:Cn1.E8.aCompase and improvise ideas for melodies and rhythmic passages based on characteristics of music or toxicy studied in rehearcal.  MU:Cn1.E8.aCompase and improvise ideas for melodies and rhythmic passages hased on characteristics of music or toxicy studied in rehearcal are supported. — In demonstrate understanding of characteristics of music or toxic studied in MU:Pn1.E8.Demonstrate a understanding of the context of the music through prepared and improvised performances.  MU:Re1.E8.a Explain the influence of coperations, analysis, and context on interest in and evaluation of music.	MU:Cn11.0.T.la Demonstrate understanding of relationships between music and the other arts, other disciplines, varied contexts, and daily life.  MU:Cn11.EL Compose and improvise ideas for melodies, rhythmic passages, and arrangements for specific jurposes that reflect characteristics of music from a variety of historical periods studied in reharmal.  MU:Cn2.ELa Share personally-developed melodies, rhythmic passages, and arrangements – individually or as an essemble – that address – individually or as an essemble – that address.  MU:Ro1.ELa Demonstrate on undestanding of expressive intent by consecting with an audience through personally – or collectoratively—developed criteria, including analysis of the shructure and context.	MU:Cn11.0.T.lia Demonstrate understanding of relationships between music and the other arts, other disciplines, varied contexts, and daily life. MU:Cn1.Elia Compose and improvise ideas for arrangements, sections, and short compositions for specific purposes that reflect characteristics) of music from a variety of cultures studied in rethantial. MU:Cn2.Elia Share personally-developed arrangements, sections, and short compositions – individually or as an ensemble – that softress MU:Cn2.Elia Share personally-developed arrangements, sections, and short compositions – individually or as an ensemble – that softress MU:Rn4.Elia Demonstrate an understanding of infant as a means for councering with an audience through personal and improvised performances based on research as well as personally- and collaboratively-developed criteria, including analysis and interpretation of the structure and context.	MUC-0.1.10.TIIIa Demonstrate understanding of relationships between music and the other arts, other disciplines varied contexts, and daily life. MUC-0.1.Elia Compase and improvise musical ideas for a variety of purposes and contexts. MUC-0.2.Elia Distrate vand, promoting-develop musical works—individually or an an ensemble that address definited purposes and contexts. MUC-0.2.Elia Distrate vand, promoting to them that address defined and string the process of engaging with and responding to them with audience members before and during the process of engaging with and responding to them. MUS-0.8.1.Elia Distrate vanders and engaging with and responding to them. With audience members before and deriving the process of engaging with and responding to them. MUS-0.8.1.Elia Distrate vanders and derivation and contexts and performances to on criteria, percent decision-making, research, as understanding of contexts.

# 1970 GO Project Goals and Objectives

In October 1970, the MENC Executive Board identified the following two goals for MENC, four for the profession in general, and thirty-five objectives as part of the GO Project.

# The goals of MENC shall be to conduct programs and activities to build:

A vital music culture

An enlightened musical public

# The goals of the profession are:

Comprehensive music programs in all schools

Involvement of people of all ages in learning music

Quality preparation of teachers

Use of the most effective techniques and resources in music instruction.

# The objectives:

- 1. Lead in efforts to develop programs of music instruction challenging to all students, whatever their socio-cultural condition, and directed toward the needs of citizens in a pluralist society
- 2. Lead in the development of programs of study that correlate performing, creating, and listening to music and encompass a diversity of musical behaviors
- 3. Assist teachers in the identification of musical behaviors relevant to the needs of their students
- 4. Advance the teaching of music of all periods, styles, forms and cultures
- 5. Promote the development of instructional programs in aesthetic education
- 6. Advocate the expansion of music education to include preschool children

- 7. Lead in efforts to ensure that every school system requires music from kindergarten through grade six and for a minimum of two years beyond that level
- 8. Lead in efforts to ensure that every secondary school offers an array of music courses to meet of all youth
- 9. Promote challenging courses in music for the general college student
- 10. Advocate the expansion of music education for adults both in and out of school
- 11. Develop standards to ensure that all music instruction is provided by teachers well prepared in music
- 12. Encourage the improvement and continuous updating of preservice and in-service education program for all persons who teach music programs and in the certification of music teachers
- 13. Expand its programs to secure greater involvement and commitment of student members
- 14. Assist graduate schools in developing curricula especially designed for the preparation of teachers
- 15. Develop and recommend accreditation criteria for the use of recognized agencies in the approval of school and college music
- 16. Support the expansion of teach education programs to include specializations designed to meet current needs
- 17. Assume leadership in the application of significant new developments in curriculum, teaching-learning techniques and technology, instructional and staffing pattern, evaluation, and related topics to every area and level of music teaching
- 18. Assume leadership in the development of resources for music teaching and learning
- 19. Cooperate in the development of exemplary models of desirable programs and practices in the teaching of music
- 20. Encourage maximum use of community music resources to enhance educational programs
- 21. Lead in efforts to ensure that every school system allocates sufficient staff, time, and funds to support a comprehensive and excellent music program
- 22. Provide advisory assistance where music programs are threatened by legislative, administrative, or other action

- 23. Conduct public relations programs to build community support for music education
- 24. Promote the conduct of research and research-related activities in music education
- 25. Disseminate news of research in order that research findings may be applied promptly and effectively
- 26. Determine the most urgent needs for information in music education
- 27. Gather and disseminate information about music and education
- 28. Encourage other organizations, agencies, and communications media to gather and disseminate information about music and education
- 29. Initiate efforts to establish information retrieval systems in music and education, and to develop databases for subsequent incorporation into such systems
- 30. Pursue effective working relationships with organizations and groups having mutual interests
- 31. Strengthen the relationships between the conference and its federated, associated, and auxiliary organizations
- 32. Establish procedures for its organizational program planning and policy
- 33. Seek to expand its membership to include all persons who, in any capacity, teach music
- 34. Periodically evaluate the effectiveness of its policies and programs
- 35. Ensure systematic interaction with its membership concerning the goals and objectives of the conference

### Goals for the Future of MENC 1970

The eight primary goals for the future of MENC as outlined by the results of The GO Project 1970

- I. lead in efforts to develop programs of music instruction challenging to all students, whatever their socio-cultural condition, and directed toward the needs of citizens in a pluralistic society;
- **II.** lead in the development of programs of study that correlate performing, creating, and listening to music and encompass a diversity of musical behavior;
- **III.** assist teachers in the identification of musical behaviors relevant to the needs of their students;
- **IV.** advance the teaching of music of all periods, styles, forms, and cultures through grade 6 and for a minimum for two years beyond that level;
- **V.** develop standards to ensure that all music instruction is provided by teachers well prepared in music;
- **VI.** expand its programs to secure greater involvement and commitment of student members:
- **VII.** assume leadership in the application of significant new developments in curriculum, teaching-learning patterns, evaluation, and related topics, to every area and level of music teaching; and
- **VIII.** lead in efforts to ensure that every school system allocates sufficient staff, time, and funds to support a comprehensive and excellent music program

# **RTTT State Evaluation Categories**

#### A. State Success Factors

- (A)(1) Articulating State's education reform agenda and LEAs' participation in it \*note from author: local educational agencies (LEAs)
- (A)(2) Building strong statewide capacity to implement, scale up, and sustain proposed plans
- (A)(3) Demonstrating significant progress in raising achievement and closing gaps

#### B. Standards and Assessments

- (B)(1) Developing and adopting common standards
- (B)(2) Developing and implementing common, high-quality assessments
  - (B)(3) Supporting the transition to enhanced standards and high-quality assessments

## C. Data Systems to Support Instruction

- (C)(1) Fully implementing a statewide longitudinal data system
- (C)(2) Accessing and using State data
- (C)(3) Using data to improve instruction

### D. Great Teachers and Leaders

- (D)(1) Providing high-quality pathways for aspiring teachers and principals
- (D)(2) Improving teacher and principal effectiveness based on performance
- (D)(3) Ensuring equitable distribution of effective teachers and principals
- (D)(4) Improving the effectiveness of teacher and principal preparation programs
- (D)(5) Providing effective support to teachers and principals

## E. Turning Around the Lowest-Achieving Schools

- (E)(1) Intervening in the lowest-achieving schools and LEAs
- (E)(2) Turning around the lowest- achieving schools

#### F. General Selection Criteria

(F)(1) Making education funding a priority

- (F)(2) Ensuring successful conditions for high-performing charters and other innovative schools
- (F)(3) Demonstrating other significant reform conditions

Tennessee Music Programs that received funding from the NEA Received NEA Funding 2010- Present

- "More than \$5 million in operational funding for the Tennessee Arts Commission, which itself funds subsidies for student tickets, support for arts education teacher training, teacher incentive grants for professional development, and a variety of other local projects to benefit arts across the state.
- \$265,000 across multiple grants for the Country Music Foundation's long-running Words and Music program, which is used in music classrooms across the state to integrate songwriting into the curriculum.
- \$15,000 for the Chattanooga Symphony's Sound Beginnings Program, including their ensembles in the school's activities and Young Person's Concerts.
- \$90,000 for the Metro Nashville Public Schools' Music Makes Us program for efforts to improve music teacher training and fund professional development for music teachers.
- \$15,000 for the Memphis Symphony Orchestra's education programming.
- \$240,500 for multiple Nashville Symphony initiatives, including educational outreach and Grammy Award winning recording projects" (Advocacy News).
- \$10,000 for Challenge America's Jazzanooga music composition lecture and performance series
- \$10,000 for Nashville's ALIAS Chamber Ensemble program which promoted the performance and recording of music by composers and related educational activities
- And through an NEA Collective Impact grant, all music teachers in Nashville
   Metro Schools received 2-4 days of specialized professional development in the
   2015-16 school year."

#### References

"The ABC's of ESEA, ESSA and No Child Left Behind." Blog. Education Post. Accessed February 10, 2020. <a href="https://educationpost.org/the-abcs-of-esea-essa-and-no-child-left-behind/">https://educationpost.org/the-abcs-of-esea-essa-and-no-child-left-behind/</a>.

About the NEA. National Endowment for the Arts. Accessed August 12, 2019. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/about-nea">https://www.arts.gov/about-nea</a>.

"About Us." National Center for Education Statistics. Institute of Education Sciences. Accessed April 10, 2020. <a href="https://nces.ed.gov/about/">https://nces.ed.gov/about/</a>.

Abril, Carlos R. "Functions of a National Anthem in Society and Education: A Sociocultural Perspective." Bulletin of the Council for Research in Music Education, no. 172 (2007): 69–87. <a href="www.jstor.org/stable/40319367">www.jstor.org/stable/40319367</a>.

"Archived Webinar: ESSA's First Year in Action, What to Know & What Has Changed?" NAfME Academy: Professional Development Webinars. National Association for Music Education, (2017).

https://nafme.org/community/elearning/archived-webinar-essas-first-year-action-know-changed/.

Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development and North American Association for Environmental Education. *Every Student Succeeds Act: Comparison of the No Child Left Behind Act to the Every Student Succeeds Act.* Educator Advocates. (2015)

https://naaee.org/sites/default/files/eepro/resource/files/essa comparisonchart final.pdf

Auclair, Liz. "NEA Awards \$210,000 in Grants Across Tennessee." *News*. Tennessee Arts Commission. February 7, 2018. <a href="https://tnartscommission.org/news/nea-awards-210000-grants-across-tennessee/">https://tnartscommission.org/news/nea-awards-210000-grants-across-tennessee/</a>

Avins, Jenni. "Who Will Lose If the US National Endowment for the Arts Is Eliminated?" Quartz, March 16, 2017. <a href="https://qz.com/932332/who-will-lose-if-the-us-national-endowment-for-the-arts-is-eliminated/">https://qz.com/932332/who-will-lose-if-the-us-national-endowment-for-the-arts-is-eliminated/</a>.

Balingit, Moriah. "Educators Want to Pair Math and Music in Integrated Teaching Method." *Education*. April 26, 2016.

 $\frac{https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/education/educators-want-to-pair-math-and-music-in-integrated-teaching-method/2016/04/26/2bb1af20-0bd3-11e6-bfa1-4efa856caf2a\_story.html.$ 

Ballard, Christy General Counsel. Christy Ballard, General Counsel to State of Tennessee Directors of Schools. "Guidance and Frequently Asked Questions Regarding Public

School Fees." November 18, 2019.

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/legal/UpdatedSchoolFeeMemo\_FINAL.pdf

Barack, Lauren. "The Business of K12 Music Education: How Districts Find Resources to Overcome Cuts to Arts Funding and Testing Pressure." *District Administration*, September 21, 2015. <a href="https://districtadministration.com/the-business-of-k12-music-education/">https://districtadministration.com/the-business-of-k12-music-education/</a>.

Barkley, Maria. "Assessment of The National Standards for Music Education: A Study of Elementary General Music Teacher Attitudes and Practices." Wayne State University. (2006)

 $\frac{https://mi01000971.schoolwires.net/cms/lib05/MI01000971/Centricity/Domain/1283/documents/THESIS.pdf.}{}$ 

Barrack, Frederick, and Kelly Parkes. "Student Assessment Using Model Cornerstone Assessments." *Standards*. National Association for Music Education. Accessed April 8, 2020. <a href="https://nafme.org/my-classroom/standards/mcas/">https://nafme.org/my-classroom/standards/mcas/</a>.

Barton, Tiffany, email conversation with author, March 4, 2020.

Bauerlein, Mark, and Ellen Grantham, ed. National Endowment for the Arts. *National Endowment for the Arts: A History 1965-2008*. National Endowment for the Arts. PDF file. Washington, D.C. (2008). <a href="https://www.arts.gov/sites/default/files/nea-history-1965-2008.pdf">https://www.arts.gov/sites/default/files/nea-history-1965-2008.pdf</a>

Beglarian, Grant. "Institutes for Music in Contemporary Education - A Preliminary Statement Concerning Evaluation." The College Music Society, 1968. <a href="https://www.music.org/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=2617:institutes-for-music-in-contemporary-education-a-preliminary-statement-concerning-evaluation&catid=209&Itemid=3288.</a>

Bishara, Hakim. "Trump Threatens to Eliminate the National Endowment for the Arts, Again." News. Hyperallergic, February 11, 2020. <a href="https://hyperallergic.com/542171/neafunding-2021/">https://hyperallergic.com/542171/neafunding-2021/</a>.

Boser, Ulrich. Race to the Top: What Have We Learned from the States So Far? A State-by-State Evaluation of Race to the Top Performance. Center for American Progress. March 2012. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED535605.pdf

Branscome, Eric. "Vision 2020 and Beyond: Imminent Deadlines of the Housewright Declaration." Contributions to Music Education 41: 71–91. January 2016. <a href="https://searchebscohost-">https://searchebscohost-</a>

com.bunchproxy.idm.oclc.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eue&AN=12556859 9&site=ehost-live. "Bulletin Board." *Music Educators Journal* 32, no. 1 (1945): 6-84. Accessed April 15, 2020. www.jstor.org/stable/3386780.

Carter, Mary Anne. "The Importance of the National Endowment for the Arts." Remarks by Mary Anne Carter, Acting Chairman at National Council on the Arts Public Meeting. National Endowment for the Arts, March 28, 2019. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/national-council-on-the-arts/mary-anne-carter-remarks-march-2019">https://www.arts.gov/national-council-on-the-arts/mary-anne-carter-remarks-march-2019</a>.

"Child's Bill of Rights." *NAfME Online Publications*. National Association for Music Education. March 21, 1950. <a href="https://nafme.org/my-classroom/journals-magazines/nafme-online-publications/childs-bill-of-rights/">https://nafme.org/my-classroom/journals-magazines/nafme-online-publications/childs-bill-of-rights/</a>.

"The Child's Bill of Rights in Music." *Music Educators Journal* 36, no. 5 (1950): 15. Accessed April 24, 2020. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/3387412">www.jstor.org/stable/3387412</a>.

Choate, Robert, ed. *Documentary Report of the Tanglewood Symposium*. Music Educators National Conference. A Department of the National Education Association. (1968). <a href="https://www.bu.edu/tanglewoodtwo/about/document-report.pdf">https://www.bu.edu/tanglewoodtwo/about/document-report.pdf</a>

Chu, Jane. "Statement from NEA Chair Jane Chu on FY18 Budget." Arts Works Blog (blog). National Endowment for the Arts, March 16, 2017. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/artworks/2017/statement-nea-chair-jane-chu-fy18-budget">https://www.arts.gov/artworks/2017/statement-nea-chair-jane-chu-fy18-budget</a>.

"Comprehensive Musicianship: The Northwestern University Seminar 60." *Music Educators Journal* 54, no. 7 (March 1968): 60–62. doi:10.1177/002743216805400721.

Collins, Chuck, Helen Flannery, and Josh Hoxie. "Gilded Giving 2018: Top-Heavy Philanthropy and Its Risks to the Independent Sector." *Philanthropy*. Inequality.org. November 19, 2018. <a href="https://inequality.org/great-divide/gilded-giving-2018-top-heavy-philanthropy-and-its-risks-to-the-independent-sector/">https://inequality.org/great-divide/gilded-giving-2018-top-heavy-philanthropy-and-its-risks-to-the-independent-sector/</a>.

Colwell, Richard, and Carlos Xavier Rodriguez. "Overview, Preparation of Teachers." Music Education. State University. Accessed April 24, 2019. https://education.stateuniversity.com/pages/2256/Music-Education.html.

Costly, Andrew. "BRIA 13 2 a The Battle Over the National Endowment for the Arts." Constitutional Rights Foundation. Civics Renewal Network, June 1997. https://www.crf-usa.org/bill-of-rights- in-action/bria-13-2-a-the-battle-over-the-national-endowment-for-the-arts.

"Country's Campaign for Music Education." News. Country Music Association Foundation, December 10, 2019. <a href="https://cmafoundation.org/news/cma-foundation-continues-investment-in-equity-and-access-in-music-programs-in-nashville/">https://cmafoundation.org/news/cma-foundation-continues-investment-in-equity-and-access-in-music-programs-in-nashville/</a>.

"Creative Mortification: An Initial Exploration': Correction to Beghetto (2014)." Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts 8 (4): 497. doi:10.1037/aca0000003. (2014).

Davidson, Dru. National Association for Music Education. "TN Fine Arts Student Growth Measures- The Race to the Top PLAN D: None of the Above." (2014). <a href="https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2014/06/TN-assessment-Dru-Davidson.pdf">https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2014/06/TN-assessment-Dru-Davidson.pdf</a>

Davis, Ben. "Diplomat Nikki Haley Says Emergency Aid for the Arts Doesn't Help People. Here's Why She's Dead Wrong." Politics. ArtNet News, March 26, 2020. <a href="https://news.artnet.com/art-world/nikki-haley-slams-emergency-stimulus-for-the-nea-shes-a-fool-1817160">https://news.artnet.com/art-world/nikki-haley-slams-emergency-stimulus-for-the-nea-shes-a-fool-1817160</a>.

---. "10 Practical Reasons Why We Need to Fund—and Defend—the National Endowment for the Arts." *Politics*. ArtNet News. March 4, 2020. <a href="https://news.artnet.com/art-world/10-practical-reasons-need-fund-defend-national-endowment-arts-1789539">https://news.artnet.com/art-world/10-practical-reasons-need-fund-defend-national-endowment-arts-1789539</a>.

Duncan, Arne. "The Arts Education Partnership National Forum." *The Arts Education Partnership National Forum*. April 9, 2010. https://www2.ed.gov/news/speeches/2010/04/04092010.html.

Dye, Christopher. "Computer Science and Fine Arts Graduation Requirements." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, September 9, 2016. https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news.

- ---. "Federal Arts Funding in Tennessee." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, March 17, 2017. https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news.
- ---. "Bledsoe County School Board." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, July 4, 2017. https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news.
- ---. "TMEA at NAfME Hill Day 2017." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, July 18, 2017. <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news">https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news</a>.
- ---. "TMEA's First Hill Day for Music Education Advocacy." TN Hill Day. Tennessee Music Education Association, 2017. <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/tn-hill-day.html">https://www.tnmea.org/tn-hill-day.html</a>.
- ---. "2018 NAfME Hill Day." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, July 23, 2018. https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news.
- ---. "2019 NAfME Hill Day." Advocacy News. National Association for Music Education, July 25, 2019. https://www.tnmea.org/advocacy-news.

Ellis, Howard. "Lowell Mason and the 'Manual of the Boston Academy of Music." *Journal of Research in Music Education* 3, no. 1: 3–10. (1955) <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/3344405">www.jstor.org/stable/3344405</a>.

Elgass, Erin, conversation with author, November 20, 2019.

Elpus, Kenneth. *The Status of Music Education in United States Public Schools 2017*. Give A Note Foundation and the Country Music Association. PDF file. (2017). <a href="https://www.giveanote.org/media/2017/09/The-Status-of-Music-Education-in-US-Public-Schools-2017\_reduced.pdf">https://www.giveanote.org/media/2017/09/The-Status-of-Music-Education-in-US-Public-Schools-2017\_reduced.pdf</a>

"Evaluative Criteria for Music in Education: The Airlie House Symposium." *Music Educators Journal* 54, no. 7 (March 1968): 66–68. doi:10.1177/002743216805400724.

Every Student Succeeds Act, Pub. L. No. 114-95, S. 1177, 114th Cong. (2015). https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/BILLS-114s1177enr/pdf/BILLS-114s1177enr.pdf

Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, Pub. L. No. 114-95, 20th Cong. (1965). https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oii/nonpublic/eseareauth.pdf

"Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA)." U.S. Department of Education, December 2015. <a href="https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn">https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn</a>.

"Everything ESSA." Advocacy. National Association for Music Education. Accessed January 4, 2019. https://nafme.org/advocacy/essa/.

"Federal Funding for Music - Title IV, Part A." Current Legislative News. Tennessee Music Education Association, July 19, 2017. <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/current-legislative-news/federal-funding-for-music-title-iv-part-a">https://www.tnmea.org/current-legislative-news/federal-funding-for-music-title-iv-part-a</a>.

Fehr, Roz. "NAfME's History, the Evolution of Music Education—and Taylor Swift!" *NAfME News*. National Association for Music Education. April 8, 2015. <a href="https://nafme.org/nafmes-history-the-evolution-of-music-education-and-taylor-swift/">https://nafme.org/nafmes-history-the-evolution-of-music-education-and-taylor-swift/</a>.

---. "The New National 2014 Music Standards – Here's What NAfME Wants You to Know." *NAfME News*. National Association for Music Education. June 5, 2014. <a href="https://nafme.org/the-new-national-core-music-standards-are-out-and-heres-nafme-wants-you-to-know/">https://nafme.org/the-new-national-core-music-standards-are-out-and-heres-nafme-wants-you-to-know/</a>.

"Fine Arts." *Tennessee Educator Acceleration Model*. Tennessee Department of Education. Accessed April 10, 2020. https://team-tn.org/fine-arts/.

"Fine Arts: Dance, Music, Theatre, Visual Art." Academic Standards. Tennessee Department of Education. Accessed April 9, 2020. https://www.tn.gov/education/instruction/academic-standards/arts-education.html.

"Gallup Organization Reveals Findings of 'American Attitudes Toward Making Music' Survey." *News Releases*. Gallup Organization and the National Association of Music Merchants. April 21, 2003. <a href="https://www.namm.org/news/press-releases/gallup-organization-reveals-findings-american-atti">https://www.namm.org/news/press-releases/gallup-organization-reveals-findings-american-atti</a>

Gibson, Adrian T. "Georgia State University." Georgia State University. Georgia State University Department of Middle and Secondary Education, January 8, 2016. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1018&context=mse\_diss.

Gifford, Sally. "New NEA Research Report Shows Potential Benefits of Arts Education for At-Risk Youth." National Endowment for the Arts News. National Endowment for the Arts, March 30, 2012. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/news/2012/new-nea-research-report-shows-potential-benefits-arts-education-risk-youth">https://www.arts.gov/news/2012/new-nea-research-report-shows-potential-benefits-arts-education-risk-youth</a>.

Glenn, Karl. "MENC Horizons: "The Child's Bill of Rights in Music"." *Music Educators Journal* 78, no. 8 (1992): 4-6. www.jstor.org/stable/3398396.

Gregg, Spencer C.J. "Crisis in Education -- The Effect of the Cold War on the American Education System" (April 28, 2016). Young Historians Conference. Paper 22. https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/younghistorians/2016/oralpres/22/

Grooms, Carole, email conversation with author, March 2, 2020.

Hamilton, Justin "Delaware and Tennessee Win First Race to The Top Grants." *Archived Press Releases*. U.S. Department of Education, March 29, 2010. https://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/delaware-and-tennessee-win-first-race-top-grants.

Hinton, T Earl. *A Brief History of the Tennessee Music Education Association*. PDF File. Tennessee Music Education Association. Nashville, (1998) <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/uploads/1/6/1/2/16120472/historyoftmea.pdf">https://www.tnmea.org/uploads/1/6/1/2/16120472/historyoftmea.pdf</a>

"History." Music Makes Us History. Music Makes Us. Accessed March 6, 2019. <a href="https://musicmakesus.org/history">https://musicmakesus.org/history</a>.

"History and Purpose." *About The NEA*. National Endowment for the Arts. November 6, 2019. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/about/national-council-arts">https://www.arts.gov/about/national-council-arts</a>.

Holochwost, Steven J., Cathi B. Propper, Dennie Palmer Wolf, Michael T. Willoughby, Kelly R. Fisher, Jacek Kolacz, Vanessa V. Volpe, and Sara R. Jaffee. "Music Education, Academic Achievement, and Executive Functions." Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts 11 (2): 147–66. doi:10.1037/aca0000112.supp. (2017).

Hunt, Thomas C. "National Defense Education Act." Encyclopedia Britannica. Accessed January 28, 2020. <a href="https://www.britannica.com/topic/National-Defense-Education-Act">https://www.britannica.com/topic/National-Defense-Education-Act</a>

Hutter, Victoria. "NEA Announces Grants to Support the Arts and Innovation Across Tennessee." *News*. Tennessee Arts Commission. May 9, 2018. <a href="https://tnartscommission.org/news/nea-announces-grants-to-support-the-arts-and-innovation-across-tennessee/">https://tnartscommission.org/news/nea-announces-grants-to-support-the-arts-and-innovation-across-tennessee/</a>.

"Join TMEA." *Tennessee Music Education Association*. Tennessee Music Education Association and National Association for Music Education. Accessed April 12, 2020. <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/full-membership.html">https://www.tnmea.org/full-membership.html</a>.

Kerstetter, Kathleen M. "Investigating High School Band Recruitment Procedures Using Educational Marketing Principles." *Journal of Band Research* 46 (2). 1-17,59. Spring 2011. <a href="https://bunchproxy.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.bunchproxy.idm.oclc.org/docview/864106681?accountid=8570">https://search-proquest-com.bunchproxy.idm.oclc.org/docview/864106681?accountid=8570</a>

Klein, Alyson. "What's in ESSA's Big Flexible-Spending Pot." Education Week, June 6, 2018, Vol. 37, Issue 34. <a href="https://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2018/06/06/whats-in-essas-big-flexible-spending-pot.html">https://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2018/06/06/whats-in-essas-big-flexible-spending-pot.html</a>

Klein, John. "John Klein: Thousands of Players. A 'Million-Dollar' Organization. And National Titles. Meet Northeast Oklahoma's Big-Time Bands." *Tulsa World*. Lee BHM Corp., August 12, 2018. <a href="https://www.tulsaworld.com/news/john-klein-thousands-of-players-a-million-dollar-organization-and/article\_913fc155-a83d-5d14-93e3-1a921c5c6cd4.html">https://www.tulsaworld.com/news/john-klein-thousands-of-players-a-million-dollar-organization-and/article\_913fc155-a83d-5d14-93e3-1a921c5c6cd4.html</a>.

Knisely, Amelia Ferrell. "Supplies, Fees and Field Trips – the Cost of Going Back to School in Williamson County." *The Tennessean*. August 8, 2018. https://www.tennessean.com/story/news/local/williamson/schools/2018/08/08/williamson-county-schools-course-fees-activities-supplies-costs/927706002/.

Lalami, Laila. "Americans Everywhere Benefit From the NEA and NEH." The Nation, March 30, 2017. <a href="https://www.thenation.com/article/archive/americans-everywhere-benefit-from-the-nea-and-neh/">https://www.thenation.com/article/archive/americans-everywhere-benefit-from-the-nea-and-neh/</a>

Lau, Ronny. "NAfME Reacts to President Trump's FY19 Budget Proposal." Public Policy Newsroom. National Association for Music Education, February 13, 2018. https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-trump-fy19-budget/.

- ---. "NAfME Statement on FY 2018 Bipartisan Omnibus Agreement." Public Policy Newsroom. National Association for Music Education, March 22, 2018. <a href="https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-fy-2018-omnibus/">https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-fy-2018-omnibus/</a>.
- ---. "NAfME Unveils Title IV-A Toolkit & FAQ!" The Advocacy Bulletin. Tennessee Music Education Association, November 6, 2018. <a href="https://nafme.org/nafme-unveils-title-iv-a-toolkit/">https://nafme.org/nafme-unveils-title-iv-a-toolkit/</a>.

Lewis Brown, Laura. "The Benefits of Music Education." Arts. PBS Kids and Georgia Public Broadcasting. Accessed October 1, 2019. <a href="https://www.pbs.org/parents/thrive/the-benefits-of-music-education">https://www.pbs.org/parents/thrive/the-benefits-of-music-education</a>.

Lowe, Alberta, and Harold S. Pryor. "Music Education in the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics." *Music Educators Journal* 45, no. 6 (1959): 28-32. www.jstor.org/stable/3388702.

Mark, Michael L. *MENC: From Tanglewood to the Present.* National Association for Music Education. PDF File. December 5, 2015. <a href="https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/12/5-MENCFromTanglewood.pdf">https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/12/5-MENCFromTanglewood.pdf</a>

McIvor, Christian Clinton. "The Hymn Tunes Of Lowell Mason: A Performance Edition Of Five Settings For Brass Quintet." (2011). https://libres.uncg.edu/ir/uncg/f/McIvor\_uncg\_0154D\_10623.pdf.

McKamey, Abigail Jeanne. "Tennessee Education Reform: Understanding Policy Implementations in Tennessee's Rural and Urban School Districts and Future Steps for Positive Change." Trace: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. Baker Center for Public Policy, (2014).

https://trace.tennessee.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1000&context=utk\_bakerschol.

Meers, Ron, telephone conversation with author, March 6, 2020.

"Membership Overview." *Membership Overview*. National Association for Music Education. Accessed April 9, 2020. <a href="https://nafme.org/membership/">https://nafme.org/membership/</a>.

"Mission." Values. Tau Beta Sigma. Accessed April 25, 2020. <a href="https://www.tbsigma.org/values/">https://www.tbsigma.org/values/</a>.

Murimi, Esther. "4 Major Reasons Why Music Is Really Being Cut From Schools." Merriam Music Articles. Merriam Music, February 24, 2016. http://www.merriammusic.com/images-2/music-teachers/why-music-is-cut-from-schools/.

"Music Arranging Cost Estimator from Time and Instrumentation." Arranger For Hire, December 28, 2019. <a href="https://arrangerforhire.com/music-arranging-cost-estimator-from-time-and-instrumentation/">https://arrangerforhire.com/music-arranging-cost-estimator-from-time-and-instrumentation/</a>.

Music Educators National Conference. "The School Music Program: Description and Standards." Americans for the Arts and Music Educators National Conference, May 15, 2019. <a href="https://www.americansforthearts.org/by-program/reports-and-data/legislation-policy/naappd/the-school-music-program-description-and-standards">https://www.americansforthearts.org/by-program/reports-and-data/legislation-policy/naappd/the-school-music-program-description-and-standards</a>.

"Music Education in the Law." Federal Resources. National Association for Music Education, (2002). <a href="https://nafme.org/advocacy/advocacy-resources/federal-resources/music-education-in-the-law/">https://nafme.org/advocacy/advocacy-resources/federal-resources/music-education-in-the-law/</a>.

"Music Education News." League of American Orchestras, October 11, 2019. https://americanorchestras.org/advocacy-government/music-education/news.html.

The Music Education Policy Roundtable. National Association for Music Education and The Music Education Policy Roundtable to President-Elect Donald Trump, the Trump-Pence Transition Team, and Education Secretary Nominee, Betsy DeVo. January 11, 2017. <a href="https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2016/12/Roundtable-Trump-Transition-Team-Letter-1\_5\_2016FINAL.pdf">https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2016/12/Roundtable-Trump-Transition-Team-Letter-1\_5\_2016FINAL.pdf</a>

"Music Education Statistics." *Advocacy Facts and Statistics*. Children's Music Workshop. Accessed April 8, 2020. https://www.childrensmusicworkshop.com/advocacy/factsandstatistics/.

*The NAEP 1997 Arts Education Assessment: An Overview.* Focus on NAEP Vol. 2 No. 4. The National Center for Education Statistics. PDF file. August 1998. <a href="https://nces.ed.gov/pubs98/98527.pdf">https://nces.ed.gov/pubs98/98527.pdf</a>

"NAfME Statement on FY 2018 Bipartisan Omnibus Agreement." Public Policy Newsroom. National Association for Music Education, March 22, 2018. <a href="https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-fy-2018-omnibus/">https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-fy-2018-omnibus/</a>.

Nast, Phil. "Music in Our Schools Month." Lesson Plans. National Education Association, Last updated January 22, 2020. <a href="http://www.nea.org/tools/lessons/51007.htm">http://www.nea.org/tools/lessons/51007.htm</a>.

National Association for Music Education. *The Every Student Succeeds Act: What it Is, What it Means, and What's Next.* PDF file. (2016). <a href="https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/11/NAfME-ESSA-Comprehensive-Analysis-2015.pdf">https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/11/NAfME-ESSA-Comprehensive-Analysis-2015.pdf</a>

- ---. Full Legislative Analysis of All Key Music and Arts Provisions of the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) [S. 1177]. PDF file. (2015). <a href="https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/11/NAfME-ESSA-Comprehensive-Analysis-2015.pdf">https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2015/11/NAfME-ESSA-Comprehensive-Analysis-2015.pdf</a>
- ---. Frequently Asked Questions Facts and Figures for FY 2020. PDF file. Last updated 2020. Accessed November 3, 2019

  <a href="https://www.arts.gov/sites/default/files/FAQ\_Facts\_Figures\_FY2020\_Prez\_budget\_FINAL.pdf">https://www.arts.gov/sites/default/files/FAQ\_Facts\_Figures\_FY2020\_Prez\_budget\_FINAL.pdf</a>
- ---. The Housewright Declaration. PDF file. September 23, 1999.
- ---. 2017 Legislative Request Encouraging Use of Technology in Music Education. PDF file. (2016). https://nafme.org/wp-content/files/2016/12/2017-NAfME\_Roundtable-CTE-Legislative-Agenda-FINAL.pdf/

"National Endowment for the Arts Appropriations History." *Open Government*. National Endowment for the Arts. Accessed February 27, 2019. <a href="https://www.arts.gov/open-government/national-endowment-arts-appropriations-history">https://www.arts.gov/open-government/national-endowment-arts-appropriations-history</a>.

National Endowment for the Arts (NEA) Appropriations Request for the FY 2020. PDF file. (2019) <a href="https://www.aam-us.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/BRIEF-NEA.pdf">https://www.aam-us.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/BRIEF-NEA.pdf</a>

National Endowment for the Arts Appropriations Request for the FY 2020. National Endowment for the Arts. PDF file. March 2019. https://www.arts.gov/sites/default/files/NEA-FY20-Appropriations-Request.pdf

National Foundation on the Arts and the Humanities Act of 1965. Public L. No. 89-209, 20th Cong. Enacted Sept. 29, 1965. <a href="https://legcounsel.house.gov/Comps/NFAHA65.pdf">https://legcounsel.house.gov/Comps/NFAHA65.pdf</a>

"National Foundation on the Arts and the Humanities Act of 1965 (P.L. 89-209)." *History*. National Endowment for the Humanities. Accessed April 11, 2020. <a href="https://www.neh.gov/about/history/national-foundation-arts-and-humanities-act-1965-pl-89-209https://www.neh.gov/about/history/national-foundation-arts-and-humanities-act-1965-pl-89-209."

"No Child Left Behind: A Toolkit for Teachers." *About Education Archived Information*. U.S. Department of Education. August 13, 2009. <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/teachers/nclbguide/toolkit\_pg10.html">https://www2.ed.gov/teachers/nclbguide/toolkit\_pg10.html</a>.

Obama, Barack "Remarks by the President in State of Union Address." *Office of the Press Secretary Archives*. The White House of President Barack Obama. January 25, 2011. <a href="https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2011/01/25/remarks-president-state-union-address">https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2011/01/25/remarks-president-state-union-address</a>.

Office of Management and Budget. Budget. Fiscal Year 2002. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2001)

- ---. Budget. Fiscal Year 2003. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2002)
- ---. Budget. Fiscal Year 2004. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2003)
- --- . America First: A Budget Blueprint to Make America Great Again. Fiscal Year 2018. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2017)
- ---. Efficient, Effective Accountable: An American Budget. Fiscal Year 2019. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2018)

- ---. A Budget for a Better America: Promises Kept. Taxpayers First. Fiscal Year 2020. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2019)
- ---. Major Savings and Reforms. Fiscal Year 2020. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2019)
- ---. A Budget for America's Future. Fiscal Year 2021. Washington, D.C: U.S. Government Publishing Office. (2020)

"Opportunity-To-Learn Standards for Music Instruction: Grades PreK-12." Music Educators National Convention. National Association for Music Education. (1994). https://nafme.org/opportunity-to-learn-standards-for-music-instruction-grades-prek-12/.

Palisca, Palisca, Claude V, Yale University, and United States. Office of Education. Cooperative Research Program. Music in Our Schools, a Search for Improvement. United States. Office of Education. Bulletin 1964, No.28. Washington]: U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare, Office of Education. (1964).

Pederson, Patricia Velde. "What Is Measured Is Treasured: The Impact of the No Child Left behind Act on Nonassessed Subjects." The Clearing House 80, no. 6 (2007): 287-91. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/30189940">www.jstor.org/stable/30189940</a>.

Pelsue, Brendan. "When It Comes to Education, the Federal Government Is in Charge of ... Um, What?" *Harvard Education Magazine*. Fall 2017. <a href="https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/17/08/when-it-comes-education-federal-government-charge-um-what">https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/ed/17/08/when-it-comes-education-federal-government-charge-um-what</a>.

"Press Release - National Anthem Project Honors Choir to Sing in the 118th Tournament of Roses Parade." National Association for Music Education, January 1, 2007. <a href="https://nafme.org/press-release-national-anthem-project-honors-choir-to-sing-in-the-118th-tournament-of-roses-parade/">https://nafme.org/press-release-national-anthem-project-honors-choir-to-sing-in-the-118th-tournament-of-roses-parade/</a>.

Public Policy Newsroom. National Association for Music Education, February 13, 2018. <a href="https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-trump-fy19-budget/">https://nafme.org/nafme-statement-trump-fy19-budget/</a>.

Research Program. Music in Our Schools, a Search for Improvement. United States. Office of Education. Bulletin 1964, No.28. Washington]: U.S. Dept. of Health, Education, and Welfare, Office of Education, 1964.

"Response to Instruction and Intervention Framework." *Tennessee State Government Department of Education*. TN State Government, 2015. https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/special-education/rti/rti2\_manual.pdf.

"Riverdale High School Band 2019-2020 Registration Forms Packet." *Riverdale High School Band 2019-2020 Registration Forms Packet*. Murfreesboro, TN, 2019.

http://www.riverdaleband.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/2019-2020-Registration-Forms-and-Payment-Info.pdf.

"Samuel Duggins." Go to Bledsoe County High School. Bledsoe County High School. Accessed March 28, 2020.

http://bchs.bledsoecountyschools.org/teacher\_pages/samuel\_duggins.

Schmidt-Jones, Catherine. "Music and Math." Rice University. National Education Association. Accessed November 7, 2019. https://cnx.org/contents/qxCNZS4M@9/Music-and-Math.

Small, Zachary. "For Fourth Year in a Row, Trump Proposes Significant Cuts to NEA, NEH Budgets." *News*. ArtNews. February 10, 2020. <a href="https://www.artnews.com/artnews/news/trump-nea-neh-budget-cuts-1202677530/">https://www.artnews.com/artnews/news/trump-nea-neh-budget-cuts-1202677530/</a>.

Stanford, Grace Ann. "History of Music Education in the United States." History of Music Education in the United States. EduNova, 2012. <a href="http://www.edu-nova.com/history-of-music-education-in-the-us.html">http://www.edu-nova.com/history-of-music-education-in-the-us.html</a>.

State Collaborative on Reforming Education. *The State of Education in Tennessee- 2010-2011*. National PDF file. (2010) <a href="https://tnscore.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/2010-11-State-of-Education-in-TN.pdf">https://tnscore.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/2010-11-State-of-Education-in-TN.pdf</a>

"State Requirements for Teacher Evaluation Policies Promoted by Race to the Top." *National Center for Education Statistics*. Institute of Education Sciences. (2012) https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/pubs/20144016/.

"Student Musical Activities and Achievement in Music: NAEP 1997 Arts Assessment." National Center for Education Statistics. Institute of Education Sciences. January 26, 2001. https://nces.ed.gov/about/.

Tan, Leonard. "J. Scott Goble, What's so Important about Music Education? (New York, NY: Routledge, 2010)." Philosophy of Music Education Review 19, no. 2: 201-05. doi:10.2979/philmusieducrevi.19.2.201.

Tatter, Grace. "As Tennessee Finishes Its Race To The Top, Teachers Caught In The Middle of Competing Changes." *Chalkbeat Tennessee*. December 15, 2015. https://www.chalkbeat.org/posts/tn/2015/12/15/as-tennessee-finishes-its-race-to-the-top-teachers-caught-in-the-middle-of-competing-changes/.

TEDxTalks. "Music and the Brain: Jessica Grahn at TEDxWesternU." YouTube Video, 0:30. April 26, 2013. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fDfVsFxJXms.

Tennessee Department of Education. Every Student Succeeds Act: Building on Success in Tennessee ESSA State Plan. PDF file. Last updated August 13, 2018.

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/documents/TN\_ESSA\_State\_Plan\_Approved.pdf

- ---. High School Policy 2.103. Graduation Requirements. (2009).
- ---. *Introduction To Fine Arts Curriculum Standards: Visual Art Grades 9-12*. Tennessee Department of Education. PDF file. (2016) (Tennessee Department of Education 2016) <a href="https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/stateboardofeducation/documents/pendingrulespolicies/october-19%2c-2018/2.103%20High%20School%20Policy%2010-19-18.pdf">https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/stateboardofeducation/documents/pendingrulespolicies/october-19%2c-2018/2.103%20High%20School%20Policy%2010-19-18.pdf</a>
- ---. *Tennessee Academic Standards for Fine Arts*. Tennessee Department of Education. PDF file. (Summer 2018).

https://www.tn.gov/content/dam/tn/education/standards/art/Fine\_Arts\_Standards.pdf

Tennessee Department of Education Commissioner's Records 1913-1970, Tennessee Department of Education. (1984).

http://sostngovbuckets.s3.amazonaws.com/tsla/history/state/recordgroups/findingaids/DE PARTMENT\_OF\_EDUCATION\_COMMISSIONERS\_FILES\_1913-1970.pdf

"Tennessee Education Code Title 49 annotation to Section 49-2-114." (2001) http://www.legislature.state.tn.us/bills/102/Bill/SB1263.pdf

"Tennessee Fine Arts Standards: A New Vision and Purpose." *Arts Education News*. Tennessee Arts Commission. July 3, 2018. <a href="https://tnartscommission.org/arts-education-news/tennessee-fine-arts-standards-new-vision-purpose/https://tnartscommission.org/arts-education-news/tennessee-fine-arts-standards-new-vision-purpose/.">https://tnartscommission.org/arts-education-news/tennessee-fine-arts-standards-new-vision-purpose/.</a>

"The Tennessee Musician 1949." *Read The Tennessee Musician Online*. Tennessee Music Education Association. (1949) <a href="https://www.tnmea.org/tennessee-musician-magazine.html">https://www.tnmea.org/tennessee-musician-magazine.html</a>.

"Trump's Proposed \$4.8 Trillion Budget Defunds The NEA And NEH." *News*. Artforum. February 11, 2020. <a href="https://www.artforum.com/news/trump-s-proposed-4-8-trillion-budget-defunds-the-nea-and-neh-82145">https://www.artforum.com/news/trump-s-proposed-4-8-trillion-budget-defunds-the-nea-and-neh-82145</a>.

Tuttle, Lynn. "How Does Music Education Fare in the First Round of State ESSA Plans?" Advocacy Bulletin. National Association for Music Education, May 3, 2017. <a href="https://nafme.org/music-arts-essa-state-plans-2017/">https://nafme.org/music-arts-essa-state-plans-2017/</a>

U.S. Department of Education. *Race to the Top Program Executive Summary*. PDF file. November 2009. <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/executive-summary.pdf">https://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/executive-summary.pdf</a>

WBIR Staff. "TN Schools Clarify Rules On Which Fees Parents Must Pay," *10 News*. NBC. February 1, 2010. <a href="https://www.wbir.com/article/money/economy/tn-schools-clarify-rules-on-which-fees-parents-must-pay/360257044">https://www.wbir.com/article/money/economy/tn-schools-clarify-rules-on-which-fees-parents-must-pay/360257044</a>.

White, Sheida, and Alan Vanneman. "Student Musical Activities and Achievement in Music: NAEP 1997 Arts Assessment." *National Center for Education Statistics*. Institute of Education Sciences. January 26, 2001. https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2000454.

Whitehorne, Ron. "NCLB: Taking a Toll on Arts and Music Education." *The Notebook*, May 24, 2006. <a href="https://thenotebook.org/articles/2006/05/24/nclb-taking-a-toll-on-arts-and-music-education/">https://thenotebook.org/articles/2006/05/24/nclb-taking-a-toll-on-arts-and-music-education/</a>.

WTVC NewsChannel 9. "Bledsoe County High School Starts Back Without a Band Director" YouTube Video, 2:08. Aug 8, 2017. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2vkIyMLcRRg

"2014 Music Standards." *Standards*. National Association for Music Education. (2014) https://nafme.org/my-classroom/standards/core-music-standards/.